EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

12 28
12 20 30

VT5/VT10
Red Arc Global Investments Cayman Trust Flexibeta Fund
VT5/VT10
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
Song Li, Director
50

50 F, Champion Tower,
Three Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong

03 6212 8316

2020 10 30
73.57 122.14 104.60
30
2019 12 20 2020 30

2019 12 20

1/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2008 10 21 2015 10
VT5/VT10
VT5 VTS VT10
VT10
VT5 VTS
VT10 VT10

2019 10 30

2/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1,000

2157 10 21

2020

3/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1971 15
2008 10 21
2015 10
2015 12
2019 10 30
2019 12

2019 12 20

4/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

FZ A B

ey B oo Fedf « Hae—rifle s
AW AlLA ALY (A w) FPFA -

b v L o
P lF et— 5T e FVTSNTIO

w OB £ # {BaCaE® Z i = #
B EREE I
LT R s Tp—R s FEST AR Fr—A R T
| AR APAY PR A A =gt s
Nirek TrF e bZAR-Hri=—
(r4=2) VST F
(7 o F¥ERE MR,
77 FIEHORIT, WEL) (7 7 ¥ FOZIEER)
R {3 5l
R Atk A AE - 4 7% BRI R T
R D
. e A 4L (R =t
R e R AT
kA 2 SMB CIEGERTT HFHHE#METiITATS
PPyl e ot B = s =
(A& B Db ORI - (77 ¥ FOEEORTEHEB LT
B RLEEEE) TR T R )
AT B
fLiri=f F e EHRCEL
T g4 —Tik RS YFALA—T T ALt
Il e JEIF W
(AARIZI U ST B R (7 7 o Foo& Rl s

5/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2015 10
2015 12
Citigroup First Investment
Management Limited
2015 10
2015 12
FirstCaribbean International
Bank and Trust Company (Cayman)
Limited
2013 13
Citibank N.A.,acting through
its Hong Kong branch 2013 13
2013 13
Citicorp Financial Services
Limited
2019 11 13
2019 11 13

6/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

shertie Ty R

)

- 27 < 75|

\’ v

AV 9L s AP F—r—T 4 —
Sk ER A s L N—T s a—rUl -

Tl e | EFw R

I
1
'

Fod T T AP S A==

\4
A TwIR
Vet A R |"."L’ﬂ}_: VTa 'jﬁ&
I - e i 3 ]*'.-'!fi|_5_f VT10 %-ﬁ#-{

aFTEy b JHF—FFEw b
571
SFO 116 SFO
200 200 2,700 2020 10
100 1,350
2020 10 6,980 5,484 36
2020 10 30
13.50
1971 15
2007 16
2020 10

71281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
ooooodooodnoooooodd

50

50 F,Champion Tower, Three Garden

100

Citigroup Global Markets
Road, Central, Hong Kong

Hong Kong Holdings Limited

2020
1925
50
150
2018
2018
CIMA
CIMA
CIMA

8/281



CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA

2020

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

9/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA

CIMA
CIMA

CIMA

2020
2020

12 31 30

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA
20 CIMA

10/281



EDINET

12 31

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

CIMA

30

EDINET

11/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

CIMA
CIMA
CIMA

CIMA CIMA
CIMA CIMA

CIMA
CIMA

CIMA

2020

12/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018

2017 18 2017 DPL
DPL

DPL

DPL

DPL DPL

13/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

| KELOSR

B FEILATOS 2
e VTS
'

o A e

|

HEILIS

e ; BEL~viioS2 |
T
; A—0OAwiiIST

RS
b AN N CLW R S

AAwiia 5 A

% FiRdA A= HU) REL IR TE@Es T

FA T AL E>THERBThSRAIBLEURZER T Ty ABTHRS T UT g F =5 vl L~ L RES T E

EEE. BVCEENICE—-TT.

1484 Tl AUt BHB3ELNSHAIN— 21Uz 0N 74— A EE5TLEBE0L. S BB £U RO
2wk LR YRICHTAI AN =S r—ERE LoD ERB L UER O A v PO TR L R OE
TEECEN. FSADN I+ —T VA REHE T CEEBE T . ST UT EBEBELEERTT. BV Ty
FAI2.(1) B ASBLIURBHYSHES DT FEvkBLU(2) AHOIHSHIUF-TFEvRICHTS
I A== BRSO EN TEET A T AL, EENIC, 37 FEvkc B2 S EUE RO
REEFRALS U - Fevki BT 2MHOHBEBRICHIF3RELICH T S3—EO#EFU I A~wiida T
EEEBLET.—AT. IFFEvHCSI5MABOE MR LTI EE v IS Nee0ER3BUER A

JAFFEvk o Ut =7 vl
s ol |
m SxEl
gt Fef R
ok ol H EB+EH
0 B i
R
N S
W #OneE

23FFEyrOBEORV VR TFIRLYFER SVWET. ) BLUUA70MISEE (LI TR 7088l &LE
FCBIE. PPy BLUUY TPy bOBOES Fud ORI LITOLBY ER LHEEET
UNS VAT HIENTETT.

U R OB i FARL
TFOOEM. FNEHSOEADT L B, ER | e

DALy F A A T AT L RS TN, i !.1:3-5*-1,3??t""‘+
BEBLURNOA T SAERSF IR ELF—5 A8 0% 97T (5% Uy—J7 ek
ERVT. UROBBA I P ERELET, il | 50% Q7P ot

_ : | 50% U —TPzuh

OFPFEy RORLE E—
AF T O OL
S0 VT ABREANS1 204 F I ZERR 25% OFPF ek 100% UH—T Pk

A VT 2RO FAIRL T, BT O LU
EECRRT AR — et B S RIS | R U RIS 1
RO EWHT SO A PR N TS ER

o | 75% Ut Pk

b
o
L

BB NTSA FvI AU 2WTRESN—E R VTI04 T2 A 2UTIR 10—V HOEET SKEE TN
STAUTAERITALEBNELT. B /FvI ADEMORS T+ UT < 3. BATHESNET.BE2
A YTy I AERBEOFA T v I AORS T UTAHENETN. SI—EVEBITI0I—E VD SRETS
WE. A VT AOBESRCRTS IV AN Y r— BRI T ST MY BUE T LEL. B FTyI 2D
BRERICHT BT AR r—. VTS5 YFvIRAUCDNTRI150/T—E VR VTI04 Ty 2 AUCDONTIR
300/ {—E/MEBABI LN TEF A RSTAUT DFIBICH D DS T . A U TFvIADKSTUF 113 E
NENSA—EVASLTN0N—E2/ME LB EBTERZENBUET,

14/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

VTS5 VT5 VT10
VT10

90 110

90 110

90

110
100

15/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

VTS VTS VT10
VT10

0.03

16/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

17/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

QX 12 0.10 0.025
JN

SeX o 12 0.10 0.050
O 12 0.15 0.050
O 12 0.15 0.050
o 12 0.15 0.030
5 0.20 0.025
WTI Crude Oil 5 0.25 0.050
IR 7.5 0.05 0.025

IR10
7.5 0.05 0.025

IR10
7.5 0.05 0.025

IR10
7.5 0.05 0.025
IR 25 0.05 0.025
IR10 25 0.05 0.025

18/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
ooooodoooiooooooodod

IR10
25 0.05 0.025
IR10
25 0.05 0.025
20 120
60
10
10
60
60

20
60 120

19/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

GMRI
GMRI
GMRI
GMRI
GMRI
GMRI
CIISGMRI Index
GMRI GMRI
GMRI 0.5
GMRI 0.5 0.5
GMRI
GMRI
GMRI

GMRI

20/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

GMRI
GMRI
GMRI
75
25
GMRI
GMRI
25 75
VTS 150 VT10

300
VTS5 VT10 10

21/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

21
x -—
0.5
365
2019 12
Plain English
Description of the Index Plain English

Description of the Risk Factors
VT5 VT10

22/281



EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

https //www._citibank.com/icg/data/documents/srp/eu/Multi__
Asset/FlexiBeta USD VT 5 Index Conditions.pdf

https //www.citibank.com/icg/data/documents/srp/eu/Multi__
Asset/FlexiBeta USD VT 5 Index_Descriptions.pdf

23/281



10

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10

24/281



90

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

60

30

25/281



SFO

2003

1,600

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

90

SFO 116

2007

26

50

50

15

26/281



10

10

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10

20

80

27/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

21

10

12

VTS
150 VT10 300

100
100

VT5 160

VT10 310
10

28/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

29/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

30/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

31/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

32/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

33/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

34/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

35/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

36/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Plain English Description of the Index

Plain English Description of the Risk Factors

120

120

0.00 0.25 0.75 1.00

37/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1.00

0.00

0.25 0.50 0.75

10

38/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

39/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1.00
0.00

0.25 0.50 0.75

0.25 25
75

40/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1.00
0.75 0.50 0.25 0.00

GMRI

GMRI
GMRI

GMRI

GMRI

41/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

GMRI

GMRI

GMRI

GMRI
GMRI

GMRI
GMRI

120

42/281



21

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

43/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

44/281



VT10

VTS
VT10
VT10
GMRI
GMRI
VT10
VT10
VT5
VT5
VTS

VT5

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

VT10
GMRI
GMRI
VT5
VT5
GMRI
GMRI
VT5
VT10
VT10
VT10
VT10

45/281

GMRI
VTS
VT10
VT10
VT5
VT10
GMRI
GMRI

GMRI

GMRI

VTS5

VT10

GMRI
VT5

VTS

GMRI



EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

VTS VT10 GMR1
VT5 VT10
GMRI
VT5 VT10 GMRI
2019 12

Plain English Description of the Index

Plain English Description of the Risk Factors

VTS VT10

https //www.citibank.com/icg/data/documents/srp/eu/Multi__
Asset/FlexiBeta USD_ VT 5 Index_Conditions.pdf

https //www.citibank.com/icg/data/documents/srp/eu/Multi__

Asset/FlexiBeta USD VT 5 Index_ Descriptions.pdf
GMRI

46/281



VT5

VT10

VT10

2019 11 15

2019 11 15

VT5

2001

VTS

2001

15

EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

VTS
VTS
VT10
15 VT10
VT5 VT10

VT10

VT10

VTS

47/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

48/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

49/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

50/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

51/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

52/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

53/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

EU

54/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

619

2015 21

2015 21

55/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

DoS
OECD
OECD FATCA
OECD CRS
CRS
CRS

CRS
CRS
CRS
FATCA

56/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

57/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

58/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

citifirst.im@citi.com

59/281



EDINETOOOO

O00000o0odoooooooooo000odoonognoonognod(Ee22200)

RN EET S

OooOooooOoooooooooboood

% T O S -
{W'Iﬂﬂﬂ“}la???.}

(% B 2015F11H 2020 10H %)
-] 100
14 -4 B0
12 4 &0
Ll o - o 40
BF 4 20
G phaeihibiba bR 4]
af 4 -20

i

i i 'l
2-:.125-111&1 MGENE 0TENE 20162118

-0
0MeENE  2020810H

<NTIORRIL A 952>
(W EL) 15511 H~ 108 %)
1 201551 1V H 20208 nﬁwu
— AR LS R S R
D e 189
12r 1 &0
10 F —_ + 40
ar 4 20
ﬁ ................................... dddid ddsddldddddddiialy a
at 420
i i 1 1 40
3',"125111-"% MIGENE 07TENE 018215 008515 20202108
<VT102—-0OAwIF 33>
':"_1%' zmsunﬁw-mzomoﬂﬁb

<WT1 UﬁﬁHb??Z}

(%) 201511 F 2020 108
100

g e [emxm o Fem em @]

w s

Tl T SO TS . : N '

20 Howl, see EN 0 OEE 10T 1B el

o—s 1 1 KON E-N m.-&-*-_ﬁ Fi

O E— X - ."4|3 8,0,

o 230 175 £ 177
TThn e Dadk MO TR DR M RS
<VTIORBILAYI IS A>

a5 015811520205 105
100

M i [emxm o T omm)

H:la

'E-I}
1?'.?'

<NVT102—-0O~wI IS5

m““‘" F R e “Fﬂﬂiﬁ ElAci T s SRR

2015911 H~20308 108

ol o o]

0 e ) s e N L 1

1 HZBHE) SEDEMEES () | 80
12F J &n
or { 40
8t — .
6 P i
e B 420

[l i L

L A0
E-lzﬁiﬂ-:i NIEE1E 200721E 201821E 01081E 20205108 41{!___,_'__" Had  SEasimes mlu:lbt ElOHE S SRR

<NVT10H~A w953
3 2015611 H-~20206105 (%)
1.5'3‘] ——— ':'5’- RA—-2020 I:‘H‘ICIQ‘
& AP i LA L
LA rf B R JI 182
1000 b 1{ 60
SO0 ‘Lﬂ al
B0 - - 20
F00 o
&00 | 4 -20
m ] 1 [ 1 _dn
ISENE 20162118 2017115 20185115 00=11F 20205108
<VTSHENLT S
(RFIL) 154115 ~203 1%
‘JIIE 2015411 H~20 0&1'51?1?'0-'&
o e I ) [T BT T 1 VR
e e e B
12F + &0
0E —_— D
BF 4 20
6 s e L o
1. 120
i

E}'FS—'J'-H‘-'_I MIGETTR 207E1E

i dﬁ
MGETE M NE 220ENH

<VT10EA S IS
%) 201541 1F--20208 107
100
e |a§,—_‘.1:!3- o IEER o]
&0
a0k
20 10,0 10858
. et el
lﬂ TRy —— R EE— d 3
¥ 220 175 i
Sr T HalE Tl mmn e e L]
<VTSHEILITA>
1.-3%: 2015511 H--2020 10F

[emrm oFEm omm]

0T 108l
l_m-z;_ﬁ-m_ﬂz
........ 43, 60,1
& A77

O DA e H‘EHHIB. P S R

60/281



<VTSERINAYIITSA>
@R

16
14

— i ST ISP T () E
-t - AEDE R (G

1’E 4
0r -
ﬁ_ -
'E' i i iiaiRaua i d i i i daaa i il il iididl

EDINETOOOO

O00000o0odoooooooooo000odoonognoonognod(Ee22200)

201541 1H 2020 10F (%)
100

&0
a0
40
20

i

20

2 ' 40
WEFNE 06ENE 017F1E 018F1E 2019518 20205108

<VTS51—0O~wI 952>

t:x——!%] 2015401 15202060 10H %E
14 b | HEEBER OISR S (e 4 an
w4 T EDA RS (HE
12 F 4 &0
10 — 1 40
ok 4 20
sl L e — o
ak = =20

L L i i 40
Zﬂ%ﬂ‘ﬂ.&! WEENH FENE 2006F1H 018E1H 2020108

<VTSHAwIr IS >
(P51 2015481V E--20206E 10 1%)
1200 2 AR
1.100 [_,;!L,L‘f IR rene ﬁ&ﬁ’l 1M
1000 4 @0
200 - h\"_"’ 40
BOO 4 20
P00 P o
800 F 1 -zu
5m 1

2015ENE 2915511.4 IHII]?'FFHLI IﬂTBE]IJ—I %ENH H}ID'TW.-j

-8 2 LRI 2019961 2F 208 GE R CEERE AL L.

AR TR T O 24 o LA R A RS i) A AL T B
LT B O AT i T 2 T 2 SRR D2 L

HERULBOT LT,

ST ROEARR RS AR B AR IR RORRETE S . B

HTF =T BT v

-t - T L FIEETLUE. A OB RE NS TR T T ot
TS TR MR O PR 4R | COM T T AR5 2 fo A

i A E SR,

=1 1
CRTORRT S Y T RO R SR E T A,
CARRATR 05 AR 5

E# B-TOPI X BN

TR F TSE M O o7 o 2 A R < B =)

MBI - SR REE SRR

B FTSERABHA- > T2 22

e FTSEMSOMA > 72 2 A RE<H. Ao 2L KRN =)

RS- FTSES REKd SO~ 7 0 02 (2L R R =)

(3 SEPHMEE S H BT Bloomberg L PTHHELTLAL &,

Oooooooooooobooooooad

<VTSEMEINAYITSA>

= 2015%11H~20200 105
aop—— [oRx@ oT5m =mm]
m PGP rraTTI

40 b 322 348 3a3 .
il mie NN mm VOt 108 1T
o—s—i N L L AT ﬂ-':h ﬂz
) [r—— ; L, A3 B0 "

220 1S ST 177

M’:‘&'}"??‘JF HA43  SMEee SRREER D4 Sl IR

<VT51—0~wI9S52>

1%33 2015811 H--2020010H
o e ] |
m e it PR i PR PP
40 I 322 348 : 7 FAIRRA
20 LELLS ! " 101108 17.4

0f—o—1 I 1 1 B % 2

2ok " u 4380

40 330 175 "% 17.7
HO07rF Bac NS SRS LR CREs RN
<NTER LIS

Iﬂgﬁ 2015411 H--20200 10H
B . ojolkin o o]
5 348

322 MR 7 %
b 174
2
A77

Loddryr BAHE RMENE SNEE CEEHE EREE iR
s Blaomberng LP.GSETHBIM S0 T — & S0 CE - NS SR

L b 3T

<201 5 - 20200 1050 SRS P R0 0 T R R A - I

o e R BT

- TR, 2019 ZRZ0B S EISL IS IC0. BT A 5T —F

[ £ AR E 4 T

LR A S PR 2015401 12020591 0F 0 Sar
AR LS 0T SR 225 7 DR L TR s e T
<D ST T R U O R T R e DB R R A — 2

ELTIRm S

TP AT AR ST o b 2o e O B L TR GG TR RS | & L o, SRR T, I B . TR D 5 . B e S mEicim
FEHFLTOEIE. WBREBESIAFALTVE D, B8, 07 -7 r2 Fi R R s L0 @ R Tl T NS BT R e M
WSl 7 T r s FORG R RENICERY SLTHaREICHL T b RER L E A,
FTSEAIREEE- 2 F o 2 AR B A~—2HCE T S0~ TOH RS, London Stock Exchange Group ploE it B0 D oL — R ERIZ
WML & d. SHME.FTSE International Limited. FTSE Fixed Income LLCZXENSOEREHRIZLSTHENTLIE Y, London Stock
Exchange Group plediE N DO =R B, fFEE 2R SE U SLESRRIZ VT A AUCHLT B O EEF BLER A

FTSEE MR- 2 o 2L FTSERMEM - 2 F o2 LB EIFFTSERPHE RN - 2 w2 213, FTSE Fixed Income LLOICROEE X NTLGMHS

AT T ATH,

FEREIAFTSE Fixed Income LLCOHIMINE TED, MlICAT ST~ TOMBIZFTSE Fied Income LLOCFALTLES,

61/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10 2.20
1,000 2.00

10 50 1.65
1,000 5,000 1.50

50 100 1.10
5,000 1.00

100 0.55
0.50
0.01

15,000
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0.29 66,000
2020 30 302,535.54
1.00
2020 30 1,043,222.33
0.01

2020 30 10,432.28
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2020 10
231,974,867.44 109.01
22,842,947.17 10.73
3,678,941.21 1.73
212,810,861.48
100.00
22,260
2020 10
2020
0.00 f =, | 231,948,935.32 | 232,000,000.00 | 231,074,867.44 |109.01
2020 10
VT10 2020 10
126,407,268.26 2020 12 29 13,906,258.46 VT10
VT10 2020 10
22,554,377.92 2020 12 29 2,481,241.89 VT10
VT10 2020 10
4,618,447.87 2020 12 29 508,082.57 VT10
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VT10 2020 10
23,682,564.93 2020 12 29 2,605,355.48 VT10
VT 2020 10
41,762,217.08 2020 12 29 2,426,638.96 VT5
VT 2020 10
7,049,378.97 2020 12 29 409,611.82 VT5
VT 2020 10
3,554,109.72 2020 12 29 206,515.40 VT5
VT 2020 10
5,149,935.52 2020 12 29 299,242.59 VTS
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2019 12 20 2020 10
VT10
2020 123,668,431.95 12,935,718 8.832 924
2019 12 51,485,124.89 5,385,344 10.011 1,047
2020 78,565,782.03 8,217,981 9.990 1,045
117,168,953.35 12,255,873 9.963 1,042
125,739,389.37 13,152,340 8.946 936
125,366,383.34 13,113,324 8.960 937
124,439,946.26 13,016,418 8.886 929
123,668,431.95 12,935,718 8.832 924
121,533,621.43 12,712,417 8.890 930
119,856,005.85 12,536,938 8.846 925
119,325,180.42 12,481,414 9.032 945
10 113,089,394.17 11,829,151 8.823 923
2020
VT10

2020 33,209,241.15 2,443,204 8.753 644
2019 12 10,379,575.57 763,625 10.042 739
2020 22,909,088.21 1,685,422 9.999 736
32,777,266.56 2,411,424 10.005 736
34,449,491.68 2,534,449 8.859 652
34,667,491.20 2,550,487 8.876 653
34,598,303.76 2,545,397 8.808 648
33,209,241.15 2,443,204 8.753 644
30,830,966.04 2,268,234 8.813 648
30,673,305.54 2,256,635 8.766 645
30,927,279.10 2,275,320 8.950 658
10 28,461,052.02 2,093,880 8.737 643
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VT10
2020 3,457,989.88 422,359 8.582 1,048
2019 12 1,160,917.64 141,794 9.979 1,219
2020 2,421,355.70 295,744 9.923 1,212
2,993,070.43 365,574 9.816 1,199
3,444,318.51 420,689 8.719 1,065
3,485,484.35 425,717 8.721 1,065
3,480,356.94 425,091 8.641 1,055
3,457,989.88 422,359 8.582 1,048
3,526,979.15 430,785 8.635 1,055
3,482,601.48 425,365 8.582 1,048
3,554,251.95 434,116 8.757 1,070
10 3,472,396.39 424,118 8.543 1,043

VT10
2020 2,301,825,826 876
2019 12 664,566,586 999
2020 1,499,763,197 1,003
2,524,211,474 992
2,564,702,491 889
2,363,095,780 890
2,341,747,049 882
2,301,825,826 876
2,274,913,815 881
2,255,924,807 877
2,278,450,270 895
10 2,204,338,673 874
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VT
2020 39,891,538.47 4,172,655 9.374 981
2019 12 20,393,734.34 2,133,185 10.000 1,046
2020 28,601,097.94 2,991,675 9.989 1,045
38,380,483.24 4,014,599 9.987 1,045
39,975,169.69 4,181,403 9.450 988
40,343,471.10 4,219,927 9.449 988
40,166,805.96 4,201,448 9.401 983
39,891,538.47 4,172,655 9.374 981
39,147,676.98 4,094,847 9.398 983
39,351,772.37 4,116,195 9.368 980
38,797,982.19 4,058,269 9.457 989
10 39,438,691.52 4,125,287 9.340 977

VT
2020 11,488,332.27 845,197 9.298 684
2019 12 5,391,462.70 396,650 10.026 738
2020 7,300,702.05 537,113 9.971 734
8,529,924.20 627,547 10.019 737
11,064,527.73 814,017 9.363 689
11,374,188.15 836,799 9.357 688
11,486,922.44 845,093 9.322 686
11,488,332.27 845,197 9.298 684
10,010,560.46 736,477 9.324 686
9,976,789.82 733,992 9.293 684
10,048,520.55 739,270 9.380 690
10 9,932,005.87 730,698 9.271 682
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VT
2020 2,541,818.77 310,458 9.232 1,128
2019 12 953,390.72 116,447 9.967 1,217
2020 1,118,111.06 136,566 9.945 1,215
2,652,316.53 323,954 9.898 1,209
2,539,712.29 310,200 9.334 1,140
2,554,519.08 312,009 9.315 1,138
2,540,554.59 310,303 9.264 1,132
2,541,818.77 310,458 9.232 1,128
2,578,696.57 314,962 9.256 1,131
2,581,884.91 315,351 9.219 1,126
2,876,213.58 351,301 9.292 1,135
10 2,823,314.87 344,840 9.168 1,120

VT
2020 584,650,409 917
2019 12 255,575,365 998
2020 389,408,443 995
539,919,998 986
576,473,616 927
586,674,442 926
586,685,107 920
584,650,409 917
584,585,462 919
576,228,281 916
580,962,598 924
10 522,885,007 913
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VT10
14,343,616.076 341,091.794 14,002,524 .282
14,343,616.076 341,091.794 14,002,524 .282
VT10
3,959,904.685 165,705.990 3,794,198.695
3,959,904.685 165,705.990 3,794,198.695
VT10
402,937.494 20.000 402,917.494
402,937.494 20.000 402,917.494
VT10
2,956,201.432 328,731.861 2,627,469.571
2,956,201.432 328,731.861 2,627,469.571
VT
4,303,714.828 48,093.357 4,255,621.471
4,303,714.828 48,093.357 4,255,621.471
VT
,235,619.148 0.000 1,235,619.148
1,235,619.148 0.000 1,235,619.148
VT
275,321.343 0.000 275,321.343
275,321.343 0.000 275,321.343
VT
653,994.499 16,426.861 637,567.638
653,994.499 16,426.861 637,567.638
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2020 30
2020

3 4,473,297 467,907
5 208,976,311 21,858,922
4 40,113,080 4,195,828
210,559 22,024

36,924 3,862

253,810,171 26,548,544

5 25,601,473 2,677,914
10 567,179 59,327
46,692 4,884

26,215,344 2,742,125

9 227,594,827 23,806,419
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2020 30
2020

VT5 9(a) 1,235,619
VT10 9(a) 3,794,199
VT5 9(a) 275,321
VT10 9(a) 402,917
VT5 9(a) 637,568
VT10 9(a) 2,627,470
VT5 9(a) 4,255,621
VT10 9(a) 14,002,524
VT5 9.292 684
VT10 8.747 644
VT5 9.226 1,127
VT10 8.577 1,048
VT5 916

VT10 876

VT5 9.368 980
VT10 8.826 923

2020 12

13 39
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13

39

2019 12 20 2020 30
2019 12 20

2020 30
6,10 20,017 2,094
7 (23,907,989) (2,500,776)
135,222 14,144
(23,752,750) (2,484,538)
10 (302,536) (31,645)
10 (10,851) (1,135)
10 (67,752) (7,087)
10 (1,043,222) (109,121)
10 (10,432) (1,091)
(38,104) (3,986)
10 (4,124) (431)
10 (4,550) (476)
(174,355) (18,238)
10 (7,019) (734)
10 (582) (61)
(549) (57)
(1,664,076) (174,062)
(25,416,826) (2,658,600)
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2019 12 20

2020 30
VT5 9(a) 8,116,520 848,988
VT10 9(a) 26,529,807 2,775,018
VT5 9(a) 3,028,009 316,730
VT10 9(a) 4,383,483 458,512
VT5 9(a) 5,908,747 618,055
VT10 9(a) 26,901,072 2,813,852
V15 9(a) 42,888,308 4,486,117
VT10 9(a) 142,551,705 14,910,908
260,307,651 27,228,180
VT10 9(a) (970,892) (101,555)
VT10 9(a) (223) (23)
VT5 9(a) (149, 350) (15,622)
VT10 9(a) (2,680, 489) (280, 379)
VT5 9(a) (457,473) (47,852)
VT10 9(a) (3,037,571) (317,730)
(7,295,998) (763,161)
253,011,653 26,465,019
(25,416,826) (2,658,600)
227,594,827 23,806,419

39
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2020 30

(25,416,826) (2,658,600)
(20,017) (2,094)
4,124 431
25,553,318 2,672,877
120,599 12,615

(208,928, 156)

(21,853,885)

(36,924) (3,862)
(40,113,080) (4,195,828)
567,179 59,327
20,017 2,004
(4,124) (431)

(248,374 ,489)

(25,979,972)

260,097,092 27,206,156
(7,249,306) (758,277)
252,847,786 26,447,878
4,473,297 467,907
4,473,297 467,907
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2019 12 20
2020 30

544,944

500, 647
(24,953,580)
(23,907, 989)

1,645,329
(25,553,318)
(23,907,989)

VTS VTS VT10
VT10
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2020

4,473,297

208,940,951

213,414,248

2020 30
2020
208,940,951 208,940,951
208,940,951 208,940,951

50
223,156
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2020 30
2020 30
87,654 4,383
32,938 1,647
(48,849) (2,442)
71,743 3,588
2020 30
11,075,098
11,690,593
2020 30
2020 30

2020
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Aaa 100.00
39,987,721
S&P A+
S&P A+
S&P A+
12
2020 30
2020 30
35,360 (35,360)
(237,135) 234,025 (3,110)
(25,364,338) 25,364,338
(25,601,473) 25,598,363 (3,110)
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2020 30
2020
567,179 567,179
46,692 46,692
227,594,827 227,594,827
228,208,698 227,594,827 613,871
25,601,473 237,135 25,364,338
25,601,473 237,135 25,364,338
2020 30
677,635 464,165 2020 304
8,060 9,065 2020 31 6
2,587,779 2,898,825 2020 31 13,480
3,504,210 3,925,409 2020 31 18,253
440,534 47,075,294 2020 31 3,317
35,360
11,942,939 8,191,268 2020 31 (5,255)
34,433,231 23,616,617 2020 31 (15,151)
47,075,294 440,484 2020 (3,407)
586,762,778 5,492,912 2020 31 (43,294)
2,298,753,438 21,519,516 2020 31 (169,614)
9,059 8,060 2020 10 0
464,062 677,635 2020 31 (407)
(237,135)
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2020 30
8,376,966 2020 12 22 (491,990)
3,021,210 2020 12 22 (177,440)
5,809,498 2020 12 22 (341,199)
42,387,016 2020 12 22 (2,489,444)
25,692,226 2020 12 22 (2,899,547)
4,360,916 2020 12 22 (492, 160)
24,263,290 2020 12 22 (2,738,281)
139,417,865 2020 12 22 (15,734,277)

(25,364,338)

13

2020

208,940,951 208,940,951

35,360 35,360
208,940,951 35,360 208,976,311
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237,135 237,135
25,364,338 25,364,338
25,601,473 25,601,473

2020

4,473,297 4,473,297
40,113,080 40,113,080
210,559 210,559
36,924 36,924
44,833,860 44,833,860
567,179 567,179
46,692 46,692
227,594,827 227,594,827

228,208,698 228,208,698
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2020
VTS5 V710 V75 VT10 VTS5
1,235,619 3,959,905 275,321 402,937 653,995
(165,706) (20) (16,427)
1,235,619 3,794,199 275,321 402,917 637,568
VT10 V75 VT10
2,956,202 4,303,714 14,343,616
(328,732) (48,093) (341,092)
2,627,470 4,255,621 14,002,524
30
10 10
1,000 10
2020 30
227,594,827
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2020
V5 VT10 V75 VT10 V5
7,873,529 22,759,953 2,858,529 3,888,855 5,427,754
(O] (10) @ @ @
(4,953) (14,317) (1,798) (2,446) (3,414)
7,868,572 22,745,626 2,856,730 3,886,407 5,424,338
VT10 V5 VT10
21,369,599 39,891,538 123,668,432 227,738,189
(10) (18) (56) (103)
(13,443) (25,094) (77,794) (143,259)
21,356,146 39,866,426 123,590,582 227,594,827
2020
V5 VT10 V5 VT10
1,235,619 3,794,199 275,321 402,917
1,235,619 3,794,199 275,321 402,917
V75 VT10 V5 VT10
637,568 2,627,470 4,255,621 14,002,524
637,568 2,627,470 4,255,621 14,002,524
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0.29
66,000
0.05
0.01
15,000
0.01
4,500 AML

7,000
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2019 12 20
2020 30

302,536 114,186
67,752 19,687
10,851 10,851
10,432 1,986

4,550 2,380

7,019 7,019

2020 30
20,017 4,124
582
e
1.00
2020 30 1,043,222

198,612
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12 2020 30

2020 30

2020

13

2020
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2019 12 20
2020 30

227,738,189 23,821,414,569
VTS 9.298 684
VT10 8.753 644
VT5 9.232 1,128
VT10 8.582 1,048
VTS 917
VT10 876
VTS 9.374 981
VT10 8.832 924
VT5 10.179 749
VT10 10.402 765
VTS 10.119 1,236
VT10 10.314 1,260
VTS 1,014
VT10 1,039
VT5 10.177 1,065
VT10 10.371 1,085
VTS 9.115 671
VT10 8.438 621
VT5 9.042 1,104
VT10 8.218 1,004
VTS 898
VT10 839
VTS 9.174 960
VT10 8.453 884
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2019 12 20
2020 30
VT5 7.02
VT10 12.47
VTS 7.68
VT10 14.18
VTS 8.30
VT10 12.40
VT5 6.26
VT10 11.68
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Fhevibata Fund VTSATIO -

@ senes trust of Red Arc Global invesiments (Cayman) Trust
Fimancial stalements for the penad from
20 Decamber 2015 (date of commancement of operations) to 30 June 2020

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020
{Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Note 2020
ush
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 4473297
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 5 208,876,311
Ameounts due from broker 4 40,113,080
Subseription receivable 210,559
Other receivables 36,924
Total assets 253,810,171
Liakilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 5 25,601,473
Accruals and other payables 10 567,179
Redemption payable 46,602
Total liabilities (excluding net assets attributable to
unitholders) 26,215,344
Met assets attributable to unitholders 9 227 554 827
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Flexiteta Fund VTSVTIO-

a.zenes brust of Red Arc Clobal Investmernts (Cayman) Trust

Financial satements for the period from
20 December 2019 (date of commencament of parabions) fo 30 June 2020

Statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020

(continued)
(Expressed in United States dolfars uniless otherwise siated)

Mote 2020
Total number of units in issue
VT5 AUD Hedged class a(a) 1,235,618
VT10 AUD Hedged class S(a) 3,794,199
VT5 EUR Hedged class 9(a) 275,321
WT10 EUR Hedged class 9(a) 402,917
VTS5 JPY Hedged class S{a) 637,568
VT10 JPY Hedged class 8(a) 28627470
VTS5 USD class 9(a) 4,255 621
WT10 USD class 9(a) 14,002 524
Met asset value per unit
VT5 AUD Hedged class AUD 9.232
VWT10 AUD Hedged class AUD 8747
VTS5 EUR Hedged class EUR 2226
VT10 EUR Hedged class EUR &.57T7
VTS JPY Hedged class JBY 916
VWT10 JPY Hedged class JPY  BFB
VTS5 USD class USD 9.363
WT10 USD class UsD 8.826

Approved and authorised for issue by the Trustee and the Manager on 4 December 2020

' ,m.m,m ...ﬁ T ; For and on behalf of
or and on
Surrtaad S0 } CIBC Bank and Trust Company
i ,df;]iﬁiﬁﬁ:r‘d-x\‘/ } (Cayman) Limited ("Trustee”)
: )
me
}
} Forand on behalf of
A.—-Sg__J } Citigroup First Investment
} Management Limited (*“Manager”)
)

The notes on pages 13 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Flaxibata Fund ¥Ta/TI0 -

a senes irusl of Red Are Glabal Investrrents (Cayman) Trust

Financial slatemants for the pericd from

20 December 2078 (date of commeancement of operations) fo 30 June 2020

Statement of comprehensive income
for the period from 20 December 2019 (date of

commencement of operations) to 30 June 2020
(Expressed in United Stafes dollars unless otherwise stafed)

Period from

20 December

2019 {date of

commencement

of operations) to

Note 30 June 2020

uso

Interest income §,10 20017

Net loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or Joss 7 (23,907 988)

Net foreign exchange gain 135,222

Total loss (23,752,750}

Management fee 10 {302 ,538)

Trustes fee 10 {10,851)

Administration, transfer agent and custodian fees 10 (67.752)

Distributor fee 10 {1,043,222)

Agent company fee 10 (10.432)

Audit fee (38,104)

Interest expense 10 (4,124)

Professional fee 10 (4,550)

Preliminary expense (174,355)

Financial statements preparation fee 10 (7.019)

Bank charges 10 (582)

Miscellaneous expenses {549)

Total operating expenses . (1,664,076)
Change in net assets attributable to unithelders from

operations and total comprehensive loss for the period (25,416,826)

The notes on pages 13 to 38 form part of these financial statements.
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Fiexibala Fund VTEAYTIO -

amﬂ'yﬂwﬁwm Giobal investments (Cayman) Trust

Financigd statemanis for the pariod from
20 December 2012 (date of comrmencement of operations) fo 20 June 2020

Statement of changes in net assets attributable to
unitholders for the period 20 December 2019

(date of commencement of operations) to 30 June 2020
(Expressed in United States dolfars unless otherwise stated)

Period from

20 December

2019 {date of
commencement

of operations) to

Nofe 30 June 2020

usp
Balance at the beginning of the period -
Transactions with unitholders
Subscription of units
- VT5 AUD Hedged class 8(a) 8,116,520
- VT10 AUD Hedged class 9(a) 26,529,807
- VTS5 EUR Hedged class 9(a) 3,028,009
= VT10 EUR Hedged class 9(a) 4,383,483
- VT5 JPY Hedged class 9(a) 5,808,747
- VT10 JPY Hedged class (a) 26,901,072
- VTS5 USD class 9(a) 42 888,308
- VT10 USD class 9(a) 142,551,708
260,307,651
Redemption of units
- VT10 AUD Hedged class 9(a) {870,892)
- V¥T10 EUR Hedged class S(a) (223)
- VTS5 JPY Hedged class 9(a) {149,350)
- \VT10 JPY Hedged class 9(a) (2,680,489)
-WT5 USD class 9a) (457 ,473)
-VT10 USD class 9a) (3,037.571)
(7,295,988)
Total transactions with unitholders 253,011,853
Change in net assets attributable to unitholders from
operations and total comprehensive loss for the period (25,416,8286)
Balance at the end of the period 227,594 827

The notes on pages 13 to 39 form part of these financial statements.

10

138/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

Flexibela Fund VTSVYTIO -

a senes rust of Red Arc Global Imvestments {Cayman) Trust

Financial statements for the periad from

20 Decomber 2012 {dale of commencement of aperations) fo 30 Juns 2020

Statement of cash flows
for the period from 20 December 2019 (date of

commencement of operations) to 30 June 2020
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stafed)

Period from
20 December
2018 (dafe of
commencement
of operations) to
30 June 2020
usD
Operating activities
Change in net assets atiributable to unitholders from operations
and total comprehensive loss for the period (25.416,826)
Adjustments for:
Interest income (20,017}
Interest expense 4124
Met unrealised loss on financial instruments at fair value through
profit or loss 25,553,318
Operating gain before changes in working capital 120,589
Increase in net financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss {208,928,156)
Increase in other receivables (36.924)
Increase in amounts due from broker (40,113,080)
Increase in accruals and other payables 567179
Interest received 20,017
Interest paid (4,124)
Net cash used in operating activities (248,374,489)

"
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Flexibata Fund VTSVTI0 -

& sevies frust of Red Are Global Invesiments (Cayrman) Trust

Financial statements for the perod from

20 Decamber 2019 fdate of commencerment of aperations) fo 30 June 2020

Statement of cash flows
for the period from 20 December 2019 (date of

commencement of operations) to 30 June 2020 (continued)
{Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Period from

20 December

2018 (date of

commencement

of operations) fo

30 June 2020

usD

Financing activities

Proceeds from unit subscriptions 280,007,092
Payments on unit redemptions {7,248, 308)
Net cash generated from financing activities 252 847,786
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 4,473,297
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the pericd -
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 4473297

The notes on pages 13 to 39 form part of these financial statements.
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Flexibeda Fund WVTSVTIG -

a sanes lrust of Red Are Globa! Invesiments (Cayman) Trust

Financial statements for ihe period from

20 Dacember 2019 {dete of commencament of oparations) fo 30 June 2020

Notes to the financial statements
{Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stafed)

1 General

Red Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust (the “Trust”) is an umbrella unit trust established
as an exempted trust under the Trust Laws of the Cayman lIslands by a Trust Deed dated
21 October 2008, as amended and restated on 10 March 2015, befween Citigroup First
Investment Management Limited as manager (the "Manager”) and CIBC Bank and Trust
Company (Cayman) Limited as trustes (the “Trustee”) (jointly “Management™). The Trust
registered under the Mutual Funds Law of the Cayman Islands on 27 October 2008, Flexibeta
Fund VTSAT 10 (the "Series Trust”) was established on 30 October 2019, The Series Trust's
first dealing day was 20 December 2013,

The Series Trust's investment objective is to provide Unitholders of the applicable class of
Units with a return that is linked to:

{a) a portfolio of on-the-run US treasury bills with a maturity of approximately 3 months at
the time of purchase (the “US Treasury Bills")

{by a portfolio which provides exposure to the relevant index applicable to such class of Units
{i.e. in respect of the VT5 Index Class Units, the VTS5 Index, and in respect of the VT10
Index Class Units, the WVT10 Index) by entering into the Swap Transactions.

Each Index is a volatility targeted index which aims to capture the performance of a multi-asset
portfolio and aims to generate positive performance by aveiding downtrends in a basket of
indices and futures, whilst providing exposure to uptrends in a basket of indices and futures.

The methodology applied by each Index uses a dynamic exposure strategy that is designed to
provide exposure to a broadly diversified notional basket of equities. commaodities, and fixed
incoma assets.

As at 30 June 2020, the Trust and the Series Trust had no employees. The investment
activities of the Series Trust are managed by the Manager. The administration and custodian
functions of the Series Trust are delegated to Citibank M.A., Heong Kong Branch (the
“Administrator”™ and the “Custodian™).

2  Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Cerified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and accounting

principies generally accepted in Hong Kong. A summary of the significant accounting policies
adopted by the Series Trust is set out below.

13
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Flexibata Fund VTSVTIO -

@ senes frust of Red Arc Global investments (Cayman) Trust

Financial stalements for the period from

20 Dacember 2019 (date of commencement of operabons) o 20 June 2020

2  Significant accounting policies {continued)

The financial statements are prepared in respect of approximately & months for the period from
20 December 2018 (date of commencement of operations) to 30 June 2020 which is the first
financial period of the Series Trust.

The HKICFA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Series Trust. The Series Trust has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for the cument accounting (see note 12}.

(b) Basis of preparation

The functional and presentation currency of the financial statements is the USD and not the
local currency of the Cayman Islands refiecting the fact that the Series Trust's performance is
measured in USD terms,

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that certain financial instruments are stated at their fair value as explained
in the aceounting policies, note 2(d) below.

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires Management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements aboul carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the peried in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that pariod, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by Management in the application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note
11.

{c) Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the period are translated into USD at the foreign
exchange rates at the transactions dates. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated into USD at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reparting period.

Foreign currency differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss as net foreign
exchange gain or loss, except for those arising from financial instruments at fair value through

profit or loss, which are recognised as a component of the net gain or loss on financial
instruments at fair value through profit or loss.

14
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Flexibeta Fund VTSVTI0 -

@ senes frust of Red Arc Global Investments [Cayman) Trust
Financial stelements for the period from
20 December 2019 (date of commeancament of operations) to 30 June 2020

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments
Initial recognition

The Series Trust classifies its financial instruments into different categories at inception as
mentioned in (i) below. Financial instruments are measured inifially at fair value, which
normally will be equal to the transaction price. Transaction costs on financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are expensed immediately.

The Series Trust recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the dale it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is recognised using
trade date accounting. From these dates, any gains and losses arising from changes in fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded
as they cccur.

Categorisation

On initial recognition, the Series Trust classifies financial assets as measured at amorised
cast or fair value through profit or loss ("FVTPL").

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and
is not designated as at FVTPL.

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual
cash flows; and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest {"SPPI").

All other financial assets of the Series Trust are measured at FVTPL.

Business model assessment

in making an assessment of the objective of the business modef in which a financial assetis

held, the Series Trust considers all of the relevant information about how the business is

managed, including:

- the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice. This
includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income,
maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to
the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or realising cash flows
through the sale of the assets;

- how the performance of the porifolio is evaluated and reported to Series Trust's
Management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held
within that business model) and how those risks are managed,
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Flexibeta Fund VTBATIO -

& senes rust of Red Arc Global Investments {Cayman) Trust

Financial statements for the perfod from

20 Decamber 2013 (dale of commencament of operatians) to 30 Juna 2020

Significant accounting policies (continued)

- how Management is compensated: e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of
the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prier periods, the reasons
for such sales and expectations about future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Series Trust's continuing
recognition of the assets.

The Series Trust has determined that it has two business models.

- Held-to-collect business model: this includes cash and cash eguivalents, amounts due from
broker, subscription receivable and other receivables. These financial assets are held to
collect contractual cash flow.

- (her business model: this includes investments in debt and derivative financial
instruments. These financial assets are managed and their performance is evaluated, on a
fair valus basis, with frequent sales taking place.

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular peried of
time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as
well as a profit margin,

In assessing whether the contraclual cash flows are SPPI, the Series Trust considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows
such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Series Trust
considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;
- prepayment and extension features;

- terms that limit the Series Trust's claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-
recourse features); and

- features that modify consideration for of the fime value of money (e.g. periodical reset of
interest rates).

The Saries Trust classifies its investments based on the business model and contractual cash
flows assessment. Accordingly, the Series Trust classifies all its investments in debt and
derivative financial instruments into financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL category.
Financial assets measured at amortised cost include cash and cash equivalents, amounts due
from broker, subscription receivable and other receivables.
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Flexibata Fund VTSVTIO-

& serfes frust of Red Arc Globs! fnvestments (Cayman)] Trust

Financial stalements for the period from

20 Decamber 2078 {date of commencement of aperabions) fo 30 June 2020

2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Reclassifications

- Financial assets are not reclassified subseguent to their initial recognition uniess the Series
Trust were to change its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all
affected financial assets would be reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period
following the change in the business model.

(iliy Fair value measurement principles

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market paricipants at the measurement date in the principal or,
in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the Series Trust has access at that
date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Series Trust measures the fair value of a financial instrument using the
quoted price in an active markst for that instrument. A market is regarded as active if
transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide
pricing information on an ongeing basis.

If there is no quoted market price on a recognised stock exchange or a price from a
broker/dealer for non-exchange-traded financial instruments, or if the market for it Is not active,
the fair value of the instrument is estimated using valuation technigues that provide a reliable
estimate of prices which could be obtained in actual market transactions.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the
transaction price - i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. If the Series Trust
determines that the fair value at initial recognition differs from the transaction price and the fair
value is evidenced neither by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability
nor basad on a valuation technigue that used only data from observable markets, the financial
instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the difference between the fair
valug at initial recognition and the transaction price. Subsequently, that difference is
recognised in profit or loss on an appropriate basis over the life of the instrument but no Iater
than when the valuation is supported wholly by observable market data or the transaction is
closed out.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on
Management's best estimates and the discount rate used is a market rate at the end of the
reporting year applicable for an instrument with similar terms and conditions. Where other
pricing models are used, inputs are based on market data at the end of the reporting year.

The Series Trust recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as at the end
of the reporting period in which the change has occurred.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{iv) Impairment

The Series Trust recognises loss aliowances for expected credit loss ("ECL"} on financial
assets measured at amortised cost.

The Series Trust measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for
the following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default cccurring over the expectad
life of the asset) has not increased significantly since initial recognition,

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Series Trust considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or efiort. This
includes both guantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Series Trust's
historical experience and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Series Trust assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if
it is morae than 30 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial assat to be in default when:

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Series Trust in full, without
recourse by the Series Trust to actions such as realising security (if any is held), or

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Series Trust considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when the credit rating of
the counterparty is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’. The
Series Trust considers this to be Baa3 or higher per Moody's or BEB- or higher per Standard
& Poor's.

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument
is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
aver which the Series Trust is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity

in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Series Trust expects to receaive).
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial assst.
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Significant accounting policies {continued)

Credit-impaired financial assefs

Ateach reporting date, the Series Trust assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer,

- 2 breach of contract such as a default or being more than 80 days past due; or

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
FPresentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.

Wiite-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Series Trust has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof,

Derecognition

The Series Trust derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to reccive the contractual cash flows in a
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets are transferred or in which the Series Trust neither transfers nor retains substantially all
of the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control of the financial assat.

The Series Trust derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are
discharged, cancelled, or expired.

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the
statement of financial position when, and only when, the Series Trust has a legal right to offsat

the amounts and it intends to either settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

19

147/281



(e)

(q)

(h)

{0

EDINETOOOO

OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Flexibeta Fung VT3VTI0 =

@ serigs frugt of Red Arc Giobal investments (Cayman) Trus!
Financial statements for the penod from
20 Decermbar 2018 (date of commenceman of cperabans) fo 20 June 2020

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash eguivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term,
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity at acquisition.

interest income and interest expense

Interest income and interest expense are recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, using the
original effective interest rate of the instrument calculated at the acquisition or origination date.
Interest income includes the amortisation of any discount or premium, transaction costs or
other differences between the initial carrying amount of an interest-bearing instrument and its
amount at maturity calculated on an effective interest rate basis,

It is recorded gross of withhalding tax imposed in the country of origin and such tax is
saparately recognised in profit or loss, if any.

Net gain or foss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

MNet gain or loss from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss includes all
realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange differences, but excludes
inferest income and expense.

Preliminary expenses

Preliminary expenses of the Series Trust are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenses

All other expenses of the Series Trust are recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis.
Income tax

Cayman lslands

Under the current taxation regime in the Cayman lslands, the Series Trust is exempt from
paying taxes on income, profits or capital gains. The Trust has received an undertaking from
the Governor in Cabinet of the Cayman Islands exempting it from tax for a period of 50 years

from the date of the creation of the Trust. Accordingly, no provision for income tax is included
in these financial statements.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Hong Kong

The Series Trust is not expected to be subject to Hong Kong tax in respect of any of its
investment activities.

(k) Realisation of units by unitholders

Unitholders may realise units on any day on which commercial banks are open for business in
each of London, New York, Hong Kong and Tokyo, and on which stock exchange markets are
open for business in Frankfurt, New York and Sydney, and/or any other day or days designated
in writing by the Manager from time to time (the "Repurchase Day”™). Units will be realised at
the net asset value per unit on the relevant Repurchase Day, a price which is calculated by
reference to the net asset value of the Seres Trust as at the applicable Repurchase Day.

()  Units in issue

The Series Trust classifies financial instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity
instruments in accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments.

A puttable financial instrument that includes a contractual obligation for the issuer to
repurchase or redeem that instrument for cash or ancther financial asset is classified as equity
if it meets all of the following conditions:

iy it entitles the holder to a pro rala share of the Series Trust's net assets in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation;

(i) itis in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes of instruments;

(iiy all financial instruments in the class of instruments that is subordinate to all other classes
of instruments have identical features;

(iv) apart from the contractual obligation for the Series Trust to repurchase or redeem the
instrument for cash or another financial asset, the instrument dees not include any other
features that would require classification as a liability; and

(v) the fotal expected cash flows attributable to the instrument over its life are based
substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised net assets or the change
in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets of the Series Trust over
the life of the instrument.

The Series Trust has eight class of redeemable units in issue: VT5 AUD Hedged class, VT10
AUD Hedged class, VT5 EUR Hedged class, VT10 EUR Hedged class, VTS5 JPY Hedged
class, VT10 JPY Hedged class, VTS5 USD class and VT10 USD class that rank pari passu in
all material respects and have identical terms and conditions except for offering fee terms. The
redeemable units provide unitholders with the right to require redemption for cash at a value
proportionate to the unitholder's share in the net assets of the Series Trust at each Repurchase
Day, and also in the event of the Series Trust's liquidation.

The Series Trust's redeemable units are classified as financial liabilities and are measured at
the present value of the redemption amounts.
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2  Significant accounting policies (continued)
{(m) Related parties

{a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Series Trust if that
person:

(i}  has control or joint control over the Series Trust;
(i} has significant influence over the Series Trust; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Series Trust or the Series
Trust's parent.

{b) Anentity is related to the Series Trust if any of the following conditions applies:

{I)  The entity and the Series Trust are members of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

{il One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a Series Trust of which the other entity is a member).

(iiy Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Series Trust or an entity related to the Series Trust.

{vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

{vii) A person identified in (a){i} has significant influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part. provides key
management personnel services to the Series Trust or the Series Trust's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the Series Trust.
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3 Cash and cash equivalents

2020
usD
Current deposits with a bank 4.4?3.2'}?
Cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank M.A., Hong Kong Eranch.
4 Amounts due from broker
2020
usD
Transactions awaiting settlemeant 40,11 3,080

Amounts due from broker mainly represenis amounts receivable from matured debt
investments as at the reporting date. These balances are expected to be settled within one
month.

5  Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

2020
usD
Financial assets at fair vaiue through profit or loss:
Mon-derivative financial instruments:
- Debt investments 208,840,951
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward contracts 35,360
208,876,311
Financial liabilities at fair vaiue through profit or loss:
Derivative financial instruments:
- Foreign currency forward contracts 237,135
- Total retum swaps 25,364,338

25,601,473
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-] Interest income

Pariod from

20 December
2019 (dafe of
commencement
of operations) lo
30 June 2020
usD

Interest income on bank balances 20,017

20,017

7  Netloss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Period from
20 December
2019 (dale of
commencement
of operations} fo
30 June 2020
ushD
Non-derivative financial instruments
= Debt investments o44. 944

Derivative financial instruments

- Foreign currency forward contracts 500,647

- Total return swaps {24,953,580)
{23,207 ,989)

Representing:

MNet realised gain 1,645,329
Net unrealised loss {25,553,318)

(23,907 ,989)

8 Financial instruments and associated risks

The Series Trust's investing activities expose it to various types of financial risks that are
associated with the financial instruments and markets in which it invests according to the
investment strategy. The risks that the Series Trust is exposed to are market risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. Market risk includes interest rate risk, currency risk and price risk.

The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period
and their associated financial risks, as well as the risk management policies employed by the
Series Trust are discussed below,
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{a) Investment strategy

As mentioned in note 1, the Series Trust's investment objective is to provide unitholders of the
applicable class of Units with a return that is linked to:

{a) a portfolio of US Treasury Bills; and

(b} a portfolio which provides exposure to the relevant Index applicable to such class of Units
{i.e. in respect of the VT5 Index Class Units, the \'TS Index, and in respect of the VT10
Index Class Units, the VT10 Index) by entering into the Swap Transactions.

The principal and income amount(s) receivable for the account of each class of Units, in
respect of the US Treasury Bills held andfor the Swap Transactions entered into, for the
account of each class of Units, will be denominated in USD, which is 2 different currency to
the cumency of denomination of the Non-USD Denominated Units, which is the applicable
Clags Base Currency. This creates a currency exchange rate exposure for the holders of each
class of the Non-USD Denominated Units which the Manager intents to systematically hedge
by entering into currency hedging transactions.

For the avoidance of doubt, the Series Trust does not benefit from principal protection and is
neither insured nor guarantesd. An investment in the Series Trust involves certain investment
risks, including the possible loss of principal.

(b) Market risk

All investments held by the Series Trust are measured at fair value through profit or loss, and
all changes in market conditions directly affect profit or loss. Market risk is the risk that the
value of the investments will luctuate as a result of changes in interest rates, exchange rates
or prices.

(iy Interest rate risk

Interast rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the future
cash flows or the fair value of financial instruments and therefore result in a potential gain or
loss to the Series Trust. The Series Trust's interest rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis
by the Manager. The following table details the interest rate profile of the Series Trust's
interest-bearing instruments at the end of the reporting period:

2020
uso
Floating rate instruments:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,473,297
Fixed rate instruments:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
- Debt investmants 208,840,951

Total 213,414,248
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

The following table indicates the period in which the interest-bearing assets maiure as at 30

June 2020,
2020
1year Overl year Over
orlass to 3 years 5 years Total
usD usb uspo uso
Assets
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Mon-derivative financial
instruments
- Debt investments 208,940,851 - - 208,540,951
Total 208,940,951 - - 208,940,951
interest rate sensitivity

At the date of the statement of financial position, assuming all other factors unchanged, it is
estimated that an increase in interest rates of 50 basis points would result in a decrease in the
net assefs atiributable to unitholders and the total comprehensive income for the period by
UsD223,156; an equal change in the opposite direction would result in an increase in the net
assets aitributable to unitholders by an approximately equal amount.

(i) Currency risk

The Series Trust may invest in financial instruments and enter into transactions that are
denominated in currencies other than its functional currency. Conseqguently, the Series Trust
is exposed fo risks that the exchange rate of its functional currency relative to other foreign
currencies may change in a manner that has an adverse effect on the value of that portion of
the Series Trust's financial assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than USD.

The fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the currency in which the asset or liability is
denominated and the functional currency could result in an appreciation or depreciation in the
fair value of that asset or liability. The Manager monitors the Series Trust's currency exposures
on an ongoing basis and may use derivative financial instruments for hedging the foreign
CUTTENCY eXposure.
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Currency sensitivity
As af 30 June 2020, had USD weakened by 5% in relation to respective curencies, with all

other wvariables held constant, net assets attributable to unitholders and the total
camprehensive income for the period would have increased by the amounts.

Change in
net assels
if LUISD
Net weakened
exposure by 5%
usp ush

As at 30 June 2020

Currencies

Australian Dollar 87,654 4 383
Euro 32,938 1,647
Japanese Yen (48,549) (2,442)
Total 71,743 3,588

A 5% strengthening of USD against the above curency would have resulted in an
approximately equal but opposite effect on the financial statements, on the basis that all other
variables remain constant.

(iiiy Price risk

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in market prices, whether caused by factors specific to an individual investment, its issuer or
all factors affecting all instruments traded in the market,

Frice sensitivity

As at 30 June 2020, it is estimated that an increase of 5% of each of the index price of the total
return swaps would have increased the net assets attributable to unitholders by approximately
USD11,075,098 and a decrease of 5% of each of the index price of the total retumn swaps

would have decreased the net assets attributable to unitholders by approximately
USD11,690,593, with all other variables held constant.
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8  Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
{e) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to discharge an obligation
or a commitment that it has entered into with the Series Trust. The Series Trust's exposure to
credit risk is monitored by the Manager on an cngoing basis.

As at 30 June 2020, all of the Series Trust's financial assets were exposed to credit risk. These
mainly include investment in debt investments, cash placed with a bank, amounts due from
broker, foreign currency forward contracts and total refurn swaps.

As at 30 June 2020, the Series Trust invested in debt investments with the following credit
ratings provided by Moody's rating services expressed as a percentage of debt investments:

% of debt
nvestments
2020
Rating
Aaa 100.00

All the cash held by the Series Trust is deposited with Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch which
is also the Administrator and Custodian. Substanfially all of the assets of the Series Trust are
held by the Custodian.

The Series Trust pledged debt investments as collateral for financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss in the amount of USD 38,887.721. The counterparties of the foreign
currency forward contracts and total return swaps are fellow subsidiaries of the Manager and
a reputable financial institution. The Manager considers the credit risk of the Bank and
counterparty of the foreign currency forward contracts and total return swaps to be low.

The credit rating of Ciibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch, the Custodian, was “A+" as raied by
Standard & Poor's. The credit rating of Citigroup Global Markets Lid., the counterparly of
forelgn currency forward contracts and total return swaps, was “A+" as rated by Standard &
Poor's. The credit rating of Citigroup Global Markets Japan Inc., the counterparty of foreign
currency forward contracts, was "A+" as rated by Standard & Poor's. The credit risk is
considerad insignificant.

Amounts arising from ECL

Impairment on cash and cash equivalents, amounts due from broker and subscription
receivable has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short
maturities of the exposures. The Series Trust considers that these exposures have low credit
risk based on the extamal credit ratings of the counterparties.

During the period ended 30 June 2020, Manager considers the probability of default to be close
to zero as the counterparties have a strong capacity to meet their contractual obligations in the

near term. There is no impairment allowance recognised on cash and cash equivalents,
amounts due from broker and subscription receivabla.
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Financial assets/{liabilities} subject to enforceable master netting arrangements

Grogs and net  Relsted amounts thal are ot
amounts of  offsel in the statement of

financial
instruments Financial
inthe  insfruments Cash

slatarnend of (imchecing colateral
finanaial non-cash  recelved or

pasition coltateral) pledged el amount
UsD usD usD usD

As al 30 June 2020
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss
Derivative financial nstruments
- Foreign currancy forward contracts 35,380 (35,350) - -
Financial Habilities at fair value through profit or
loss
Derivative financial instruments
- Forelgn currency forward contracts {237,135) 234,025 - {3.110)
- Total retum swap (25,364.338) 25354338 - -
(25,601.473) 25.598.363 = (3,110

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the risk that the Manager may not be able to convert investments into
cash to meet liguidity needs in 2 timely manner. As unitholders may realise units on any
Repurchase Day, the Series Trust is exposed to liquidity risk of meeling unitholder
redemptions. Any amount payable to unitholders in respect of the realisation of units shall
normially be paid within three business days following the relevant Repurchase Day as defined
in note 2(k), subject to the receipt of the applicable sale proceeds of the investments.

The Series Trust's investments include foreign currency forward contracts and total return
swaps, which may be flliquid. As a result, the Series Trust may not be able to liguidate some
of these investments at an amount close to fair value in order to meet unitholder redemptions.
The Manager believes that the Series Trust can liguidate its investments in US Treasury Bills
to meet unitholder redemptions in an active market.
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
Analysis of liabilities by remaining maturity

The following table details the remaining contractual maturities of the Series Trust's liabilities

as at 30 June 2020,
2020
Repayable Within T month to Imonths  No speciic
Tolal  on demand 1 manith 3 maonths fo 1 year dale
uso Ush usp usoD UsD uso
Meon-trading liabilities
Accruals and other
payables 567,178 - a7 TS - - -
Redemption payabile 46,852 - 45,662 - . -
Met assets atiribulable
it the unithaldars 227 504 B2T 227,504,827 - - - -
Tatal 228208608 227504827 613,871 £ = -
Trading liabilities
Financial liabilities at
fair value through
profit or loss 25801473 - 237,938 - 25364338 -
Total 25,601,473 - XT38 - 25364338 -

{e) Specific instruments
(i) Foreign currency forward contracts

The following foreign currency forward contracts were outstanding as at 30 June 2020:

Curramcy Currancy Currancy Cumancy Fair vaiue
bought amount bought soid amgunt soid Settlernant date ﬂssgl's
usD

AUD 677,635 Uso 464, 165 DE-JUL-20 304
EUR 8,060 UsD 09,085 31-JUL-20 ]
EUR 2587779 UsD 2,898 825 31-JUL-20 13,480
EUR 3,504,210 Ush 3,925 408 3-JUL-20 18,253
UsD 440,534 JEY 47,075,294 31=JUL-20 s
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 35,360
Currency Currency Currency Cumancy Fair value
bought amount ought sod amount sold Seitternent date labilitias
usoD
ALD 11,942 839 uso 8,191,268 31-JUL-20 (5,255)
ALID 34,433 231 ush 23816617 F-JUL-20 {15,151}
JPY 47,075,294 ush 440,484 OF-JUL-20 (3,407}
JPY 586,762,778 Uso 5482812 I1=-JUL-20 143.294)
JPY 2298753438 uso 21519518 31-JUL-20 (189.814)
UsD 8,059 EUR 8,080 10-JUL-20 {7
usD 464,052 ALD 877,635 31-JUL-20 (407)
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (237,135)
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8 Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)
iy Total return swaps
The following total return swaps were outstanding:
Notiana! Fair value
As at 30 June 2020 amount Maturity date liabilities
usD
Total return swaps 8,376,968 22-Dec-20 (4%1,990)
Total return swaps 3,021,210 22-Dec-20 (177 440}
Total return swaps 5,808 498 22-Deac-20 (341,199)
Total return swaps 42,387 016 22-Dec-20 {2,489 444)
Total retumn swaps 25,692 226 22-Dec-20 (2.889.547)
Total return swaps 4 360,916 22-Dec-20 (492 160)
Total return swaps 24 263 280 22-Dec-20 (2,738,281)
Total return swaps 139,417 865 22-Dec-20 (15.734.277)
(25,364,338)
{fl  Fair values
(i}  Financial instruments carried at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Series Trust’s financial instruments measured
at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level fair valus
hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of

the inputs used in the valuation technigue as follows:

- Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted guoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date

- Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs

are inputs for which market data are not available

- Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

3
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Fexibeia Fund VTSVTI0 -

& series rust of Red Arc Global Investmants (Caymarn) Trust
Finencial statemeants for the period frovn

20 December 2018 (dale of commencement of opprations] i 30 June 2020

Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss:

Men-dervative financial
instruments:
- Debt investments

Derivative financial
instruments
- Foreign currency forward
contracts

Financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or
loss:

Derivative financial
instruments
- Foreign currency forward
contracts
- Total retum swaps

2020
Level 1 Lewvel 2 Level 3 Total
usbo usoD usho uso
208,940,951 = - 208,240,951
- 35,360 - 35,360
208,940,951 35,380 = 208978311
- 237135 - 237,135
- 25,364 338 - 25,384 338
- 25,601,473

25,801,473 -

During the period ended 30 June 2020, there were no transfers among instruments in Level 1,

Level 2 and Level 3.

Financial instruments carried at other than fair value

The financial instruments not measured at fair value through profit or loss are short-term
financial assets and financial liabilities whose carrying amounts approximate fair value.

The following table sets out the fair value of financial instruments not measured at fair value
and analyses it by the level in the fair value hierarchy into each fair value measurement is

categorised.

32
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(a)

Flaxibata Fund VTEVTIO-

a senes brust of Red Arc Giobal investments (Cayman) Trust
Financial statemenits for the peviod from

20 December 2079 (date of commencement of oparations) fo 30 June 2020

Financial instruments and associated risks (continued)

2020
Leval 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
ushD uso uso ushD
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 4,473,297 - 4473297
Amounts due from broker - 40,113,080 - 40,113,080
Subscription receivable - 210,559 - 210,559
Other receivables - 36,924 - 36,924
- 44 B33 860 - 44 B33.880
Financial liabilities
Accruals and other payables - 567.179 - 567,179
Redemption payable - 45,692 - 46,652
Net assets attributable to the
unitholders - 227,584 827 - 227 584 827
- 228,208,698 - 228,208,698
Net assets attributable to unitholders
Units issued and redeemed
N ,
VT5ALD VTi0 ALID VTS EUR VTi10 EUR VTS JBY
Hedgad Hedged Hedged Hedged Hadged
class class class class clags
At 20 December 2019 (date
of commencament of
operations) - - - - -
Units izzued during the
period 1.23551%8 3858 905 275,321 402 937 553,985
Units redeemed during the
period - (165,708) - (200 {16,427}
At 30 Jume 2020 1,235,619 3,784 185 275,321 402917 837,588
VTi0 JBY
Hedged VTS USD YT10 UsD
class class class
At 20 December 2019 (date
of commencement of
aperations) - - -
Units issued during the
period 2956202 4,303,714 14 343 516
Units redeemed during the
pariod (328,732) {48,083) (341,082)
At 30 June 2020 2827 470 4,255,621 14,002,524
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Fhexibata Fund VTEVTI0 -

& series trust of Red’ Arc Global investments (Cayman) Trust

Financial statements for the period from

20 Decamber 2018 [date of commancamant of operations} o 30 June 2020

9  Net assets attributable to unitholders (continued)
As at 30 June 2020, all units issued by the Series Trust are classified as financial liabilities.

The initial offering of the VT35 AUD Hedged class and VT10 AUD Hedged class were at a price
of AUD 10.00 per unit, VTS5 EUR Hedged class and VT10 EUR Hedged class were at a price
of EUR 10.00 per unit, VT5 JPY Hedged class and VT 10 JPY Hedged class were at a price of
¥1,000 per unit, VTS USD class and VT10 USD class units were at a price of
USD 10.00 per unit. Units may be redeemed on the redemption date and also in the event of
the Series Trust's liquidation at the net asset value per unit on the relevant redemption date.

In mestings of unitholders for any resolution to be proposed in respect of the Series Trust,
individual unitholder present in person, by proxy or by representative, has one vote for every
unit of which he is the holder.

The Trust and the Series Trust do not have any externally imposed capital requirements. As
at 30 Juns 2020, the Series Trust had net assets atfributable to unitholders of
USD227,524 827. The Series Trust strives to invest the funds received from the issue of units
ininvestments that meet the Series Trust's investment objectives while maintaining sufficient
liguidity to meet the funding needs when unitholders redeems their units.

(b} Reconciliation of net assets

In accordance with the Series Trust's offering memaorandum, the net assets of the Series Trust
are computed using the pre-determined cut-off time for all transactions. Transactions after that
offering memorandum based cut-off time are recorded the next day. Under the HKFRSs
requirements, these transactions are recorded on the same day to comply with recognition and
derecognition criteria for the financial instruments. This approach creates a timing difference
between the HKFRSs net assets and units issued and the offering memorandum net assets
and units issued. Preliminary expenses are amortised over a period of not more than 3 years
from date of closing in accordance with the offering memorandum. However, for financial
reporting purposes under HKFRSs, all expenses should be recognised in profit or loss when
they incurred.
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Flaxibata Fund VTSVTI0 -

& series trust of Red Arc Global ime stmants (Cayrnan) Trust

Financial stalemeants for the peviod from
20 December 2019 (date of commancemant of operations) fo 30 June 2020

9  Net assets attributable to unitholders (continued)

A reconciliation of the net assets between the amounts computed for valuation purposes and
the amounts computed in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

2020
VTS5 AUD VTT0 AUD VTS EUR VT10 ELIR VT5JPY
Hedgad Hedged Hedged Hedged Hedged
ciass class class ciass class
usD uso uUsD ush uso
Met assets attributable to
unitholders for valuation
purposes TAT3.628 22759953 2,858,529 3,888,855 5427 754
Adjustment for timing
difference (4) {10} {1 {2) (2)
Adjustment cn preliminary
BXpEenses {4,853) (14,317) (1,798) {2,445) (3.414)

Met assets attributzble to
unitholders as reported in
the financial statements 7868572 22745828 2 858,730 3,886,407 5424338

VTI0 JPY
Hedged VTS usD V1o UsD
olass cigss class Total
uso ush usD usD
MNet assets attributable o
unitholders for valuation
purposes 21,369,500 29,801,538 123868432 227,738,189
Adjustment for timing
difference (10) (18) (58) (103)
Adjustment on preliminary
BXDENSEs {13,443) (25,054) (77.734) {143,2549)
Met assets atiributable to

unitholders as reported in
the financial statements 21,356,146 30,886,426 123,580,582 227,584,827
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Flexibata Fund VTSVTIO -

§ sarfes frust of Red Arc Global investments (Cayman) Trust

Financial stafements for the period from
20 Dacambar 2019 (date of commencemen! of opevations) to 30 June 2020

Net assets attributable to unitholders {continued)

A reconciliation of the number of units between the numbers used for valuation purposas and
the numbers recorded in accordance with HKFRSs as reported is as follows:

Mumber of unils 2020
VTig ALD
VTS ALD Hadged VTS EUR VT10 EUR
Hedged class clgss Hedged class Hedged class
Units issued for valuation purpose 1,235,619 3,794 199 275,321 402917
Adjusirment on timing difference = - = -
Units issued as reported in the
financial statements 1,235,619 3,794,188 275,321 402,817
VT1g JPY
VTS JPY Hedged VTs USD YT10 USD
Hedged class class class class
Units fssued for valuation purpose Ba7 588 2B27.4T0 4755 821 14,002,524
Adiustment on timing difference - - ) &
Units isseed as reported in the
financial statements 637,568 2827470 4,255 621 14,002,524
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Flexibata Furd VTSWTI0 =

a8 senes irust of Red Are Global Investmends {Cayman) Trust
Financial stataments for the perod from

20 December 2015 (dide of comvnencemeand of oparations) fa 30 June 2020

Related parties and other key contracts

Related parties

Charges and expenses from related parties in respect of services provided to the Series Trust

are as follows:

Marnagement fee:

Administration,
transfer agency
and custodian fees:

Trustes fes!

Agent company fee:

Profassional fee:

Financial statements
preparation fee:

The Manager is entitied to a management fee of 0.29% per
annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust, subjectto a
minimum fee of USDE6,000 p.a.. The fee is accrued daily and
payable monthly in arrears.

Citibank N.A., acting through its Hong Kong branch, is entitled
to receive out of the Series Trust a combined administration,
transfer agency and custodian fee of 0.05% per annum of the
net asset value of the Series Trust. The fee is calculated and
accrued daily and payable monthly in arrears.

The Trustes charges a fee of 0.01% of net assets per annum,
subject to a minimum fee of USD15,000 per annum. The fee
is calculated and accrued daily and payable quarterly in

arrears.

The agent company charges a fee up to 0.01% per annum of
the net asset value of the Series Trust. The fee is accrued
daily and payabie monthly in amrears.

The Trustee charges an AML fee of $4,500 per annum,

The administrator is entitted to a fee of USD7,000 per financial
statement preparation.

The following summarises the significant related party fransactions of the Series Trust:

Period from 20 Decamber 2018

{dafe of commencement of

oparations) fo

30 June 2020

Expenses Payable

usD usD

Management fee 302 536 114,186
Administration, transfer agency and custodian fees 687,752 19,687
Trustee fee 10,851 10,851
Agent company fee 10,432 1,986
Professional fee 4,550 2,380
Financial statements preparation fee 7,018 7,018

a7

165/281



EDINETOOOO
OO000DOo0oDoooDo0obDo0obDoooooo0booo0ood(Ee22200)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Flexibata Fund WTSVT10-

& senas frust of Red Arc Global imepstments (Cayrman) Trust

Financial statements for the period from

20 Dacembar 2019 (date of commencemeant of aperations} to 30 June 2020

10 Related parties and other key contracts (continued)

The Series Trust utilises the banking services of the Administrator in the ordinary course of
their banking and securities custodian business. Information relating to the cash and cash
equivalents and investment balance is disclosed in note 3 and note 5 respectively. During the
period ended 30 June 2020, the interest income eamed from the bank balances maintained
with the Administrator amounted to USD20,017, the interest expense incurred amounted to
USD4, 124, and the bank charges incurmed amounted to USD582.

The counterparty of the foreign currency forward contracts and total return swaps entered into
by the Series Trust is a fellow subsidiary of the Manager. Information relating to foreign
currency forward contracts is disclosed in note 8(e).

{b) Other key contracts
Distributor

The Distributor charges a fee up to 1% per annum of the net asset value of the Series Trust
per unit for each unit that the Distributor is the registered holder. The fee is accrued daily and
payable monthly in arrears. During the period ended 30 June 2020, distributor fee incurred
amounted to USD1,043,222. As at period end date, USD198,612 of the distributor fee
remained payable.

11 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Estimation of fair values

The determination of fair value for financial assets and liabilities for which there is no
observable market price requires the use of valuation techniques as described in note 2(d)(iii).
For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have litlle price transparency, fair value is
less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on liquidity,
concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the
specific instrument.
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Flexibata Fund WTSVTI0 -

& seves frust of Red Arc Global fmvestmaents (Caymar) Trus!
Financia! stetemenis for the pericd from
20 December 2015 (date of commencemant of operatans) lo 30 June 2020

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the period ended 30 June 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issuad a number of
amendments and new standards which are not yet effective for the period ended
30 June 2020 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements. These include
the following which may be relevant to the Series Trust.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material 1 January 2020

The Series Trust is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
amendments, new standard and interpretations is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far the Series Trust has conciuded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have
a significant impact on the Series Trust's results of operations and financial position.

Subsequent events

The Manager has performed an assessment of the impact of subsequent events on the Series
Trust s ability to continue as a going concern and concluded that there is no going concern
risk.

Since the start of January 2020, the outbreak of coronavirus, which is 2 rapidly evolving
situation, has adversely impacted global commercial activities. The rapid development and
fluidity of this situation precludes any prediction as its ultimate impact, which may have a
continued adverse impact on economic and market conditions and trigger a period of global
economic slowdown,

The Manager is monitoring developments relating to coronavirus and is coordinating its
operational response based on existing business continuity of the Series Trust and on

guidance from global health organizations, relevant governments, and general pandemic
response best practices.

39
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Flaxibala Fund VTSVTI0 -

& seres trust of Red Arc Giobal Invesiments (Cayman) Trest

Firancial siatements for the perod from

20 December 2010 (date of commencement of operabions) o 30 June 2020

Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Period from
20 December
2018 (date of
commencement of
operations) fo 30
June 2020
Total net asset value (calculated in accordance with the Offering
Memorandum) UsD 227,738,189
Met asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Offering
Memorandum)
- VTS5 AUD Hedged class AUD  9.298
- WT10 AUD Hedged class AUD 8753
- VTS5 EUR Hedged class EUR 8232
-VT10 EUR Hedged class EUR 8582
- TS JPY Hedged class JEY 917
-VT10 JPY Hedged class JEY 878
= VTS5 USD class Ushb 9374
-VT10 USD class UsD 8.832
Price record (calculated in accordance with the Offering Memorandumy:.
- Highest net asset value per unit during the period
-WT5 AUD Hedged class AUD 10.178
- VT10 AUD Hedged class AUD 10402
- VTS EUR Hedged class EUR 10.118
-WT10 EUR Hedged class EUR 10374
- W15 JPY Hedged class JPY 1,014
-WT10 JPY Hedged class JPY 1,038
- WT5 USD class ush 10177
-WT10 USD class usD 10.371
- Lowest net asset value per unit during the period
-WT5 AUD Hedged class AUD 9115
=%T10 AUD Hedged class AUD 8438
- VT5 EUR Hedged class EUR 8.042
- WT10 EUR Hedged class EUR 8.218
-WT5 JPY Hedged class JPY 898
-%T10 JPY Hedged class JPY 838
-VYT5 USD class uUsD 8.174
=WT10 USD class UsD 8453
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Flaxibeid Fund VTEVTI0-

a series trust of Red Arc Giobal investments [Caymran) Trust

Financial statements for the period from

20 December 20719 (date of commencermerd of operations) to 30 June 2020

Supplementary information (unaudited)

Performance table (continued)
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise stated)

Period from

20 December

2019 {date of

commencenent

of operafions) to

30 June 2020

Met investment retum during the period

-WT3 AUD Hedged class -7.02%
- %T10 ALD Hedged class -12.47%
- VTS EUR Hedged class -7.68%
-WT10 EUR Hedged class -14.18%
- VTE JPY Hedged class -8.30%
=VWT10 JPY Hedged class -12.40%
- WT5 USD class -6.26%
-WT10 USD class -11.68%

The net investment returns for the period was calculated by reference to the difference
between the net asset value per unit (calculated in accordance with the Offering Memorandum)
of the Series Trust at the period end date and its date of commencement of operations price
divided by the date of commencement of operations price to obtain the refurn in percentage.
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2020 10
237,243,465.16 | 24,815,666,456
24,432,603.68 | 2,555,650,345
212,810,861.48 | 22,260,016,111
VT 1,071,346.559
VT10 3,257,741.828
VT 307,933.072
VT10 406,459.398
VT 572,992.100
VT10 2,522,149.458
VT 4,222,634.001
VT10 12,818,257.147
VT 9.271 682
VT10 8.737 643
VT 9.168 1,120
VT10 8.543 1,043
VT 913
VT10 874
VT 9.340 977
VT10 8.823 923
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12 31

2019

39,835,244

3,127,590

(20,048,154)

2019 12 31

2019

537,775,794

42,222,465

(270,650,079)

2018

57,356,942

1,322,752

(38,636,726)

Ooooooooooooooooooad

2018

774,318,717

17,857,152

(521,595,801)

22,914,680 309,348,180 20,042,968 270,580,068
@ (3.244,882) (43,805,907) (2.814,830) (38,000,205)
19,669,798 265,542,273 17,228,138 232,579,863
19,669,798 265,542,273 17,228,138 232,579,863
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2019 12 31
2019 12 31
2019 2019 2018 2018
©) 19,753 266,666 22,749 307,112
257,483,338 3,476,025,063 253,284,299 3,419,338,037
773,374 10,440,549 132,034 1,782,459
9,175,826 123,873,651 7,366,339 99,445,577
267,432,538 3,610,339,263 260,782,672 3,520,566,072
10 5,881,203 79,396,241 4,060,446 54,816,021
2,039,978 27,539,703 19,665,036 265,477,986
©) 3,662,448 49,443,048 881,075 11,894,513
11,583,629 156,378,992 24,606,557 332,188,520
255,848,909 3,453,960,272 236,176,115 3,188,377,553
255,868,662 3,454,226,937 236,198,864 3,188,684,664
11(a) 2,000,200 27,002,700 2,000,200 27,002,700
253,868,462 3,427,224,237 234,198,664 3,161,681,964
255,868,662 3,454,226,937 236,198,864 3,188,684,664
2020 28

)

)

)

)

)

11 31
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2019 12 31
2019 12 31
2018 2,000,200 216,970,526 218,970,726
17,228,138 17,228,138
2018 12 31 2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
2019 2,000,200 234,198,664 236,198,864
19,669,798 19,669,798
2019 12 31 2,000,200 253,868,462 255,868,662
2018 27,002,700 2,929,102,101 2,956,104,801
232,579,863 232,579,863
2018 12 31 27,002,700 3,161,681,964 3,188,684,664
2019 27,002,700 3,161,681,964 3,188,684,664
265,542,273 265,542,273
2019 12 31 27,002,700 3,427,224,237 3,454,226,937
11 31
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2019 12 31
31
2019 2019 2018 2018
22,914,680 309,348,180 20,042,968 270,580,068
(2,992,020) (40,392,270) (1,477,579) (19,947,317)
19,922,660 268,955,910 18,565,389 250,632,752
(641,340) (8,658,090) 111,708 1,508,058
(1,809, 488) (24,428,088) 4,789,899 64,663,637
1,820,757 24,580,220 (376,224) (5,079,024)
(17,625,058) (237,938,283) 9,816,813 132,526,976
1,667,531 22,511,669 32,907,585 444,252,398
(460,512) (6,216,912) (2,756,914) (37,218,339)
1,207,019 16,294,757 30,150,671 407,034,059
2,992,020 40,392,270 1,477,579 19,947,317
2,992,020 40,392,270 1,477,579 19,947,317
4,199,039 56,687,027 31,628,250 426,981,375
253,284,299 3,419,338,037 221,656,049 2,992,356,662
257,483,338 3,476,025,063 253,284,299 3,419,338,037
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2019 2018

39,835,244 57,356,942

39,835,244 57,356,942
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2019 2018
2,992,020 1,477,579
135,570 154,827)
3,127,590 1,322,752

2019 2018
4,666,331 19,628,027
4,078,536 6,636,458
10,742,855 10,790,292
468,286 468,148
92,146 1,113,801

2019 2018

(19,989) (274,006)

3,261,875 3,085,307
2,996 3,529
3,244,882 2,814,830

16.5 2018 16.5
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2019 2018
22,914,680 20,042,968
16.5 3,780,923 3,307,090
(516,052) (218,254)
(19,989) (274,006)
3,244,882 2,814,830
2019 2018
881,075 826,688
(460,513) (2,756,914)
(19,989) (274,006)
(@) 3,261,875 3,085,307
3,662,448 881,075
2019 2018
22,749 26,278
(@) (2,996) (3,529)
19,753 22,749
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383
2019 2018
7,478,000 8,664,708
8,494,866 14,381,096
2,131,543 1,830,923
740,100 758,100
18,844,509 25,634,827
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
2019 2018
5,444,468 7,283,614
3,731,358 82,725

9,175,826 7,366,339
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2019 2018
580,425 2,615,365
4,840,130 984,433
460,648 460,648
5,881,203 4,060,446
580,425 2018 2,350,065
2019 2018
20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

2019 12
2018 236,198,864
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2019 2018
0.28 689,064
(0.33) (831,600)
2018
2019 2018
2,989 627,403 4,228,327 711,629 2,857,720 8,149,638
580,425 192,949 132,034
12,298,268 3,419,155 7,047,878 293,661
(4,605,392) (807,961) (4,028,308) 428,510
(394) (1,212,795) (11,820) (3,434,604) (13,077,290)
2,989 8,900,310 5,819,675 699,809 2,442,686 (4,073,447)
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2019 2018
2.04 14,280
(4.35) (130) (1.05) (7.327)
5.77 513,516 0.26 6,415
2018
2019 12 31 2018 12 31
13
2019 2018

() 39,835,244 57,356,942
() 1,900,215 3,290,514
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2008 12
2019
225 2009 01
2019 13
225 2009 02 /
2019 18
12
2019 31
14
15 2019
18
19
20
25
26
27
28
30
31
1703 32
33
1710 34
36
225 37
1802 38
39 2019 11
1809 40
1903 42 2019 29
10
43 2019 12 20
2012

2019 10
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12 14 15 18 19 20 25 26 27 28 30 31 32 33 34 36 37
38 39 40 42 43

0.01 1.8
0.3
19 39
50 55
2019 12 31 19
689,282 2018 :933,218
39 630,508 2018
0.18
2019 12 31
580,425 2018 2,357,296
2019
12 31 4,666,331 2018 19,628,027

18,844,509 2018 25,634,827
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Citigroup First Investiment Management Limiled
Financlal stalernants for the year ended 31 Decamber 2018

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December 2019
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2019 2078
$ 3
Tumover 2 39,835 244 57,356 942
Other net gain 3 3,127,580 1,322,752
Other operating expenses {20,048,154) (38,636,726)
Profit before taxation 4 22,914,680 20,042,968
Income tax S(a) (3,244,882) (2,814,830)
Profit for the year 19,669,798 17,228,138
Other comprehensive income for the year =
Total comprehensive income for the year 19,669,798 N _‘1?,225,138

The notes on pages 11 to 31 form part of these financial statements.
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Ciigroup First investment Managemean! Limited

Finanotal statements for ihé year ended 31 December 2019

Statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Note 2019 2018
3 3
MNon-current asset
Deferred tax assets S(c) 19,753 22,748
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 7 257 483 338 253,284,299
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 8 773,374 132,034
Agccounts receivable and other assets g 8,175,826 7,366,339
267,432,538 260,782,672
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 10 5,881,203 4,080,446
Ameounts due to fellow subsidiaries 8 2,039,978 189,665,036
Tax payables 5(c) 3,662,448 881,075
11,583,629 24,608 557
Met current assets 255,848 909 236,176,115
MNET ASSETS 255,868,662 236,198,864
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital 11(a) 2,000,200 2,000,200
Retained eamings 253,868,452 234,198,664
TOTAL EQUITY 255,868,662 236,198,864
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directorson 2 §8 APR 2070

l <

i;jﬁﬁ”, Touldperrieh oy L:

)
)

The notes on pages 11 to 31 form part of these financial statements.
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Ciligroup First inwesiment Management Limiled

Financial sfatemants for the year ended 31 Decamber 2019

Statement of changes in equity

for the year ended 31 December 2019

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share Retained
capital eamings Total
5 5 3
Balance at 1 January 2018 2,000,200 216,970,526 218,970,726
Total comprehensive income for
the year 17,228,138 17,228,138
Balance at 31 December 2018 2,000,200 234 198,664 236,198,864
Balance at 1 January 2019
2,000,200 234 198,664 236,198,864
Total comprehensive income for
the year 19,669,798 19,669,798
Balance at 31 December 2019 2,000,200 253 868 462 255,868,662

The notes on pages 11 to 31 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of cash flows

for the year ended 31 December 2019

{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Operating activities
Profit before taxation

Adjustment for:
Interest income

Operating cashflow before changes in
working capital

{Increase)/decrease in amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and
other assets

Increasef{decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued expenses

(Decrease)fincrease in amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries

Net cash generated from operations

Hong Keong profits tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities
Investing activity

Interest received

Net cash generated from investing activity

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Note

Cligroup Firs! invesirnent Managemant Limited
Financial sfaternents for the year ended 31 Decambaer 2018

2019 2018

$ $
22,914,680 20,042,968

(2,892,020) (1,477 579)
19,922,660 18,565,369
(641,340) 111,708
(1,809,488) 4,789,899

1,820,757 (376,224)
(17,625,058) 9,816,813
1,667,531 32,907,585

(460,512) (2,756,914)
1,207,019 30,150,671
2,982,020 1,477,579
2,992,020 1,477,579
4,198,030 31,628,250
253,284,299 221,656,049
257,483,338 253,284,299

The notes on pages 11 fo 31 form part of these financial statements.
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Citigroup First investrment Managemant Limited
Financial sfaternants for the year ended 31 Decembar 2019

Notes to the financial statements
{Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Significant accounting policies
Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”®), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Company are disclosed below,

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are first effective or available
for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Company. Mote 1(c) provides
infermation en any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Company for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis.

The Company has chosen Hong Kong dollars as its functional currency which reflects the
economic substance of the underlying assets and circumstances relevant to the Company.
All values are rounded to the nearest Hong Kong dollar, unless otherwise indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the

revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

11
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Ciligroup Firs! vestment Managemant Limiteg
Financial statemnants for the year ended 31 Decamber 2019

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2019 but they do not have a
material effect on the Company's financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three maonths of maturity at acquisition.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Company as revenue when it arises from the trading activities, the
provision of services in the ordinary course of the Company's business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred to the customer,
or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Company is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third
parties.

Where the contract contains a financing component which provides a significant financing
benefit to the customer for more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present value
of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract contains a financing component
which provides a significant financing benefit to the Company, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the effective
interest method. The Company takes advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63
of HKFRS 15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a significant financing
component if the period of financing is 12 months or less.

Further details of the Company’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as
follows:

- Fee income is recognised when the relevant services have been rendered.

= Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest method,

12
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Citigroup First investmant Management Limiled
Financial sfatements for the year anded 31 Decembar 2013

1  Significant accounting policies (continued)
(! Provisions and contingent llabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence
will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

{g) Accounts and other receivables

Accounts and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less allowance for credit losses (zee note
k) (v)), except where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In such cases,
the receivables are stated at cost less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are recognised when there is objective
evidence of impairment and are measured as the difference between the carrying amount of
the financial asset and the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the asset’s original
effective interest rate where the effect of discounting is material.

Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Company about events that have an impact on the asset's estimated future cash flows such
as significant financial difficulty of the debtor,

fh) Transiation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated inta Hong Kong dollars at the exchange

rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

13
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) Citigroup First fmestment Management Limvhed
Financial stalements for the year ended 31 Décember 2019

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respactively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to
tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets arise from deductible temporary differences, being the differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and
the tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
Apart from differences which arise on initial recognition of assets and liabilities, all deferred
tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.

The amount of deferred tax racognised is measured based on the expacted manner of
realisation or settlement of the camying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period. Deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not discounted.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented
separately from each other and are not offset, Current tax assets are offset against current
tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities if, and only if, the
Company has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities. The principle of offsetting usually applies to income tax levied by the same tax
authority on the same taxable entity.

Related parties

(a} A person, or a close member of that person's family, is related to the Company if that
person:

(i) has control or jeint control over the Company;
(i) has significant influence over the Company; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Company or the
Company's parent.

14
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Citigroup First invesimeant Managemeant Limited
Financial sfatemants for the year ended 31 Dacamber 2019

Significant accounting policies [continued)
{b) An entity is related to the Company if any of the following conditions applies:

(1  The entity and the Company are members of the same group {which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

{iiy One entity is an associate or jeint venture of the other entity (or an associate or
joint venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

{iiij Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

{iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of
the third entity.

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Company or an entity related to the Company.

{vi} The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vi() A person identified in (a){i) has significant influence over the entity oris a
member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the
entity).

{viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the Company or to the Company's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair value, which normally will be equal to the
transaction price, plus, in case of a financial asset or financial liability not held at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly atiributable to the acquisition or issue
of the financial asset or financial liability.

The Company recognises financial assets and financial liabilities on the date it becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. A regular way purchase or sale of
financial assets is recognised using trade date accounting. From this date, any gains and
losses arising from changes in fair value of the financial assets or financial liakilities are
recorded.

15
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Ciligroup First investmant Mamagement Limited
Financial sfatemants for the year ended 31 December 2019

1  Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)  Classification and subseguent measurement

(A)

Classification of financial assets

On initial recognition, the Company classifies financial assets as measured at
amorised cost or FVWTPL.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following
conditions and is not designated as at FWTPL.

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect
contractual cash flows: and

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest ("SPFI7)

All ather financial assets of the Company are measured at FVTPL.
Business model assessment

In making an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial
asset is held, the Company considers all of the relevant information about how the
business is managed, including:

= the documented investment strategy and the execution of this strategy in practice.
This includes whether the investment strategy focuses on earning contractual
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration
of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash
outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets:

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s
management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets
held within that business model) and how those risks are managed;

- how the managers of the business are compensated: e.g. whether compensation is
based on the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows
collected; and

- the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the
reasons for such sales and expectations about future sales activity

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL because they are neither held

to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and to
gell financial assets.
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Ciligroup First lnvestment Managament Limited
Financial sfaternants for the year ended 31 December 2019

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(B)

Assessment whether contractual cash flows are SPP!

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the
financial asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding
during a particular peried of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g.
liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the
contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial
asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the
Company considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension features,

- fterms that limit the Company's claim to cash flows from specified assets {e.g. non-
recourse features); and

- features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset
of interest rates)

Reclassifications

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the
period after the Company changes its business model for managing financial assets.

Classification of financial assets

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables include amounts due from fellow subsidiaries, accounts
receivable and other assets and cash and cash equivalents. These assets are
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial iabilities

Financial liabilities includes amount due to fellow subsidiaries and accounts payable

and accrued expenses. These liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or where the financial asset together with substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership, have been transferred.
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Citigroup First investrmen! Management Limiled
Finaneial statemants for the vear anded 31 Dacernber 2018

Significant accounting policies {continued)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

The Company uses the weighted average method to determine realised gains and losses to
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
derecognition.

Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
statement of financial position where there iz a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECLs on financial assets measured at
amortised cost.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the
following, which are measured at 12-month ECLs:

- financial assets that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

- other financial assets for which credit risk (i.e. the risk of default occurring over the
expected life of the asset) has not Increased significantly since initial recognition

The Company assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it
is more than 30 days past due.

The Company considers a financial instrument to have low credit risk when its credit risk
rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade',

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Company is exposed to credit risk.
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Citigroup First invesiment Managemenl Limited
Financial statements for the year anded 31 Decembar 2013

Significant accounting policies (continued)

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
entity in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Company expects to
receive).

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset,

Credil-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 'credit-impaired’ when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have
occurred.,

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following cbservable data:

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;

- a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 90 days past due; or

- itis probable that the borrower will enter bankruptey or other financial reorganisation

Fresentation of allowance for ECLs in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the
gross carrying amount of the assets,

White-off

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no
reasonable expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion theraof.
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Citigroup Firs! invesfment Management Limited
Financial statements for the year anded 31 December 2078

2 Turnover

The principal activity of the Company is the provision of investment management services,

2018 2018
3 kS
Investment management fee income 39,835,244 57,356,042
39,835,244 57,356,842
3 Other net gain

2019 2018
$ ]

Interest income from bank deposits with a
fellow subsidiary bank 2,862,020 1,477,579
Foreign exchange gain/{loss) 135,570 (154,827)
3,127,580 1,322,752

4 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

2019 2018
5 §
Management fee expenses 4,666,331 19,628,027
Sub-manager fee expanses 4,078,536 6,636,458
Legal and professional fee 10,742 855 10,790,292
Auditors’ remuneralion 468,286 468,148
Others 92,1486 1,113,801
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Citigroup First lnvestment Manegement Limited
Financial statemants for the year ended 31 December 2013

Income tax in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

represents:

Taxation in the stalement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income represents:

2019 2078
3 3
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax
Over-provision in respect of the prior year (19,989) (274,008)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 3,261,875 3,085,307
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 2,996 3,528
3,244 882 2,814,830

The pravision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year is calculated at 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) of

the estimated assessable profits.

Reconciliation between income tax and accounting profit at applicable tax rates:

Profit before taxation

MNotional tax on profit before taxation at 16.5% (2018;

16.5%)

Tax effect of non-taxable income and non-deductible

loss
Over-provision in respect of prior year

Actual tax expense

2019 2018
22,914,680 20,042,968
3,780,923 3,307,090
(516,052) (218,254)
(19,989) (274,008)
3,244 882 2,814,830
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Gitlgroup Fist westment Managament Limited
Financial gtafements for the year ended 31 Decermber 2019

Income tax (continued)
Income tax in the statement of financial position represents:

Current taxation in the statement of financial position represents:

Note 2019 2018
5 $
Current taxation bought forward 881,075 826,688
Provisional Profits Tax Paid (460,513) (2,756,914)

Balance of Profits Tax provision relating to prior
years (19,98%9) (274,006)
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year  5(a) 3,261,875 3,085,307
3,662 448 881,075

Defarred tax assels recognised:

The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the statement of financial position and
the movements during the year are as follows:

Naote 2019 2018
3 $
At 1 January 2019 22,749 26,278
Charged to statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive incoms 5(a) (2,998) (3,528)
At 31 December 2019 19,753 22 749

As at 31 December 2018, there is no significant deferred tax asset or liability not recognised
or provided for (2018: $Nil).

Directors’ emoluments
Directors' emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulations are as follows:

2018 2018

g -

Directors® fees - -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 7,478,000 8,664,708
Discretionary bonuses 8,494 866 14,381,086
Share based payments 2,131,543 1,830,923
Retirement scheme contributions 740,100 758,100
18,844 509 25 634 827
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 Citigroup First lvestment Management Limiled
Financial slatemants for the year ended 31 December 2019

Cash and cash equivalents represent deposits held at a fellow subsidiary bank as at 31

December 2019 and 31 December 2018,

Amounts due fromfto fellow subsidiaries

The amounts due fromito fellow subsidia
demand.

Accounts receivable and other ass

Investment management fee receivable
Legal and professional fee receivable

ries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on

ets
2019 2018
5 3
5,444,468 7,283,614
3,731,358 82,725
9,175,826 7,366,339

All of the above fee receivables except tax receivables are due from funds managed by the
Company. All the fee receivables are interest free, unsecured and expected to be setiled

within three months.

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

Sub-manager fee payable
Legal and professional fee payable
Others

2019 2018

$ $
580,425 2,615,365
4,840,130 984,433
450,648 460,648
5,881,203 4,060,446

Included in sub-manager fee payable is an amount due to a fellow subsidiary of $580,425
(2018: $2,350,065). All accounts payable and accrued charges are interest free, unsecured
and expected to be settled within three months.
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Ciligroup Firs! investment Management Limited
Finaneial statermants for the vear anded 31 Decermber 2048

Share capital

Issued share capital

2018 2018
No, of MNo. of
shares Amount shares Armount
¥ $
Ordinary shares, issued and
fully paid:
At 1 January and 31 December 20,002 2,000,200 20,002 2,000,200

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares
of the Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank
equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets,

Capital management

The Company's primary objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. As the Company is part of a larger group, the
Company's sources of additional capital and policies for distribution of excess capital may
also be affected by the group’s capital management objectives,

The Company defines "capital” as including all components of equity. On this basis the amount
of capital employed at 31 December 2019 was $255,868,662 (2018: $235,128,864).

The Company's capital structure is regularly reviewed and managed with due regard to the
capital management practices of the group to which the Company belongs. Adjustments are
made to the capital structure in light of changes in economic conditions affecting the
Company or the group, to the extent that these do not conflict with the directors’ fiduciary
duties towards the Company or the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The results of the directors' review of the Company's capital structure are used as a basis for
the determination of the level of dividends, if any, that are declared,

As a licensed corporation registered under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance,
the Company is also subject to the capital requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures (Financial Resources) Rules ("FRR"). The minimum liquid capital requirement is the
higher of $100,000 and the variable required liquid capital as defined in the FRR. The
Company monitors its compliance with the requirements of the FRR on a daily basis. The
Company complied with the reguirements of the FRR at all times during the year.
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Citigroup First Inestment Managemeant Limited
Financial statements far the year ended 31 Decenber 2019

Financial instruments

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate risks and foreign currency risk arise in the
normal course of the Company’s business. These risks are managed by the Company's
financial management policies and practices described below.

Credit risk

The Company's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents held at a
fellow subsidiary bank and cutstanding fees receivable arising from the Company’s
investment management activities. Management has a credit policy in place and exposure to
credit risks is monitored on an ongoing basis,

Management fee receivables are regularly reviewed and settled on a regular schedule. Far
the balance due from fellow subsidiaries, management considers the default risk of the
financial assets placed with the group companies to be remote.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is equal to the carrying amount of these financial
assets as of the end of the reporting period.

Ligquidity risk

The Company's policy is to regularly moniter its current and expected liquidity requirements
to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the
short and longer term,.

At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, all financial liabilities mature within one year
or are repayable on demand. Details of the earliest contractual settlement dates of the
financial liabilities are disclosed in notes 8 and 10,

Interest rate risk

The Company is exposed to interest rate risk only to the extent that it eams bank interest on
cash and cash equivalents.

Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the estimated changes in the Company’s profit before tax in

response to estimated changes in interest rate with all other variables held constant at the
end of the reporting period.

2019 2018
Profit Profit
before tax before tax
increase/ increase/
(decrease) {decrease)
5% s % $
Changes in interest rate
- Increase - - 0.28 689,064
- Decrease (0.33) (831,600) - -
25
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Citigroup Firet investmeant Manapemeand Limited
Financial statoments for the pear ended 31 December 2019

Financial instruments (continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the annualised impact on the Company's profit
before tax that would arise assuming that the change in interest rates had occurmred at the
end of the reporting period and had been applied to re-measure those financial instruments
held by the Company which expose the Company to interest rate risk at the end of reporting
period. The analysis is parfformed on the same basis for 2018.

Currency risk

Currency risk arises from the possibility that changes in foreign exchange rate will impact the
value of financial instruments.

To minimise the exposures to fereign currency risk, management ensures that the net
exposure is kept at an acceptable level by buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates
where necessary to cover the foreign currencies.

Exposure to currency risk
The following table details the Company's exposure at the end of the reporting peried to

currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other
than the functional currency of the Company to which they relate.

2018 2018
Augtraian Japanase us Austrabian Japanase us
Dolars Yn Dolars Doilars Yan Dovars
HED HKD HKD HKD HKD HED
equivaient agusalent Sgunaied equialent equivalent equivalemt
Cash and cash equivalanis 2,989 B27 403 4,228,327 711,629 2,857 720 8,145,638
Amounis due from fallow
subsidiaries - 5B0,425 192,848 - - 132,034
Accounts recelvable and
other assets - 12,298,268 3,419,155 - 7047 878 283,661
Aceourts payable and
acoruad expenses : (4,605.382) {807.961) - {4,028,308) 428,510
Ameunts due 1o
fellow subsidiaries - (304) (1,212,795) (11,8200 (3,434 804) {13,077,280)
Owverall net axposura 2889 8,800,310 5818675 600,809 2442 568G (4,073,.447)

Hong Keng dollar ("HKD") is pegged to the United States dollar ("USD"), the Company
therefore consider the risk of movements in exchange rates between the USD and the HKD
to be insignificant.
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Firsl Investment Managemen! Limiled
Financial statemnants for the year ended 31 Decermbar 2019

Financial instruments (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
The following table indicates the instantaneous change on the Company's profit before tax

that would arise if foreign exchange rate to which the Company has significant exposure at
the end of reperting peried had changed at that date, assuming all other risk variables

remained constant.
2019 2018
fncrease/ Increase/
{decrease) Increase/ {decrease) Increase/’
in foreign (decrease) in foreign {decrease)
exchange on profit exchange on profit
rates before tax rates before tax
% 5 % 3
Australian dollars - - 2.04 14,280
(4.35) (130) (1.05) (7,327)
Japanese Yen 577 513,518 0.26 6,415

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in foreign exchange rates had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Company which expose the Company
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period, including intercompany payables
and receivables that are denominated in currencies other than the functional currency. The
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2018.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities are considered not to be materially different

from the carrying values in the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018.
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Citigroup First Investment Managernent Limited
Financial stafements for the pear anded 31 December 2049

Material related party transactions

In addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Company had
transactions in the normal course of business with related parties as follows:

Fee income and expenses

Note 20189 2018
$ 5
Fee income
Investment management fee income (i) 39,835,244 57,356,942
Fee expenses
Sub-manager fee expenses (i) 1,900,215 3,290,514

The Company is the fund manager of the following funds during the year:

- Principal Protected Dow Jones Industrial Average Linked Fund without Target Auto
Redemption (USD) (2008-12) ("Fund Series 1%) (Terminated on & February 2018)

- Principal Protected Nikkei 225 Linked Fund without Target Auto Redemption (AUD)
(2009-01) ("Fund Series 4") (Terminated on 13 March 2019)

- Knock-in Type/Lowest Price Reference Nikkei 225 Linked Fund without Target Auto
Redemption (JPY) (2008-02) ("*Fund Series 67) (Terminated on 18 April 2018)

- Country Selector Foreign Currency Series (USD) ("Fund Series 12") (Terminated on 31
January 2019)

- Hybrid Tri-Asset Fund (JPY) ("Fund Series 14")

= World CB Fund (JPY) ("Fund Series 15") (Terminated on 8 July 2019)

- Asia High Yield Bond Fund ("Fund Series 18"

- Mexico Bond Fund ("Fund Series 19"

- Templeton Global Bond Fund Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 207
- Global Balance Plus Fund ("Fund Series 25")

- North American Equity Income Covered Call Strategy Fund (*Fund Series 267)
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Citigroup Firs! lnvestiment Managemeant Limited
Financial slaternants for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2019

Material related party transactions (continued)

-

US Focused Growth Equity Foreign Currency Series ("Fund Series 277)
Treasury Premium Plus Fund ("Fund Series 287

Fixed Income Fund ("Fund Senes 307

Treasury Premium Plus 1l Fund {*Fund Series 31")

USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1703 ("Fund Series 32"
JPN High Dividend Equity with Short Index Allocation (*Fund Series 33%)
USD Denominated Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1710 ("Fund Series 34")
JGB Asset Swap Fund ("Fund Series 367)

Mikkei 225 Intraday Fund ("Fund Series 37")

Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1802 (*Fund Series 38")

China Hong Kong Equity Opportunities Fund ("Fund Series 38" (Launched on 11 July
2019)

Target Setting at Maturity Fund 1808 ("Fund Series 407)
Target Setting At Maturity Fund 1903 (*Fund Series 42%) (Launched on 29 March 2019)

Flexibeta Fund (VTS5 Defensive and VT10 Active) ("Fund Series 43") (Launched on 20
December 2019)

CGMYL Index Target Volatility Fund 2012 (SP) ("CGMYL")

Kokusai Turkish Bond Open {1M) Active Currency Hedge ("KAM")

The Company is the fund advisor of the following fund during the year:

Japan Prime Selection Premium Equity Open Mother Fund ("KAM Japan Prime
Selection”) (Terminated on 10 April 2018)
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Citigroup First Irvestment Management Limited
Financral stafemants for the year ended 31 Decembar 2019

Material related party transactions (continued)
The Company is entitled to fee income from the following funds under its management;
Investment management/advisory fee income

For Fund Series 12, 14, 15, 18, 19, 20, 25, 26, 27, 28, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40,
42, 43, CGMYL, KAM and Japan Prime Selection, fees are calculated at 0.01% to 1.8% per
annum of the net asset value of the funds.

For Series 1, 4 and 8, fees are calculated at 0.3% per annum of the notional amount of units
in issue.

Pursuant to the sub-management agreement signed between the Company and the
sub-managers for Series 19 and 39, the sub-managers’ fee expenses are payable to the
sub-managers calculated at 50% and 55% respectively of the gross management fee income
received. The total sub-managers’ fea expenses paid to the sub-managers for Series 19 as
at 31 December 2019 amounted to $689,282 (2018: $933,218), while amounted to $630,508
for Series 39 (2018: $Nil).

Pursuant to the letter agreement signed between the Company and Citigroup Global Markets
Limited ("CGML"), a fellow subsidiary of the Company, for KAM Japan Prime Selection, the
data service fee expense payable to CGML are calculated at 0.18% per annum applied to
the daily net asset value of the fund. The total data service fee expenses paid to CGML as
at 31 December 2019 amounted to $580,425 (2018, $2,357,298).

Management fee expenses

The Company paid management fee expenses to fellow subsidiaries, which provided
ancillary sale support services to the Company. The management fee expense for the
reporting period as at 31 December 2018 amounted to $4,666,331 (2018: $19,628,027).

Key management personnel emoluments

Besides the directors’ emoluments disclosed in note 6, there were no other key management
personnel emoluments,

Amounts disclosed include emoluments totalling $18,844, 509 (2018: $25,634,827) to certain
key management personnel were paid by group companies of the Company. The Company
did not directly reimburse the group companies for the service provided.
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Citigroup First investment Management Limitad
Financial statements for the year ended 31 Decamber 2019

Immediate parent and ultimate controlling party

At 31 December 2018, the directors consider the Company's immediate parent to be
Citigroup Global Markets Hong Kong Holdings Limited, which was incorporated in Hong
Kong. This entity produces financial statements but not available for public use. Its ultimate
controlling party at 31 December 2019 is considered to be Citigroup Inc., which was
incorporated in the United States of America. Citigroup Inc. produces consolidated financial
statements under generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America,
which are available for public use.

Possible impact of amendments, new standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2019

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and which have not been adopted in these financial statements.
These include the following which may be relevant to the Company.

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or affer

Amendments to |1AS 1 and |1AS 8, Definition of material 1 January 2020
1 January 2020

The Company is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these
developements is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the financial statements.

Subsequent events

A novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-18) was classified as a pandemic by the World Health
Organization on 11 March 2020, impacting countries globally. The potential impacts from
COVID-19 remain uncertain, including, among other things, on economic conditions,
business and consumers, The extent of these impacts on the Company are unclear, although
they will likely adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition.

This is a non-adjusting event and an estimate of the financial effect cannot be made at the
point in time as the situation remains a rapidly evolving one,
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Independent Auditors Report to the Trustee

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Flexibeta Fund VT5/VT10 (the" Series Trust”), a series trust of Red
Arc Global Investments (Cayman) Trust, set on pages 7 to 39, which comprise the statement of financial position
as at 30 June 2020, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in net assets attributable to
the unitholders and the statement of cash flows for the period from 20 December 2019 (date of commencement of
operations) to 30 June 2020, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financia position
of the Series Trust as at 30 June 2020, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the period from 20
December 2019 (date of commencement of operations) to 30 June 2020 in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs’) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”).

Basisfor Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS") issued by the
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Series Trust in accordance with
the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”) together with the ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter

The Series Trust may translate these financial statements and our auditors report from English to Japanese. We
have not been engaged to perform any procedures over the trandation. In the event of any inconsistencies
between the English and the Japanese versions of the financial statements and our auditors report, the English
version shall prevail.

Information Other Than the Financial Satements and Auditors' Report Thereon

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises al the information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our
auditors' report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materialy inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust for the Financial Satements

The Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and for such interna control as the
Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financia statements, the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust are responsible for assessing
the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust either
intend to liquidate the Series Trust or to cease operations, or have no redlistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Satements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

272/281



EDINETOO OO
0000O0000000000000000000000000000000(E22200)
(o oo o o s o o o o o e o

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSASs, we exercise professiona judgment and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We aso:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financia statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Series Trust's interna control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the Manager's and the Trustee's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Series Trust's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors report to the
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Series Trust to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Manager and the Trustee of the Series Trust regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

KPMG

4 December 2020
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Independent auditor's report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financia statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Citigroup First Investment Management Limited (“the Company”)
set out on pages 7 to 31, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the statement
of profit of loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash
flows for the year then ended and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the financia statements give atrue and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2019 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSS") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basisfor opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS") and with reference to
Practice Note 820 (Revised), The audit of licensed corporations and associated entities of intermediaries, issued
by the HKICPA. Our responsihilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent auditor's report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Information other than the financial statements and auditor’s report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’ s ability to continue
as agoing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no redistic
aternative but to do so.

In addition, the directors are required to ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with the records

kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules.
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Independent auditor's report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are
required to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are in accordance with the records
kept under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAS, we exercise professiona judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent auditor's report to the member of
Citigroup First Investment Management Limited (continued)
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

Report on the audit of the financial statements continued)
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financia statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Report on matters under the Hong Kong Securities and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and Hong Kong
Securities and Futures (Accounts and Audit) Rules of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance

In our opinion, the financial statements are in accordance with the records kept under the Hong Kong Securities
and Futures (Keeping of Records) Rules and satisfy the requirements of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures
(Accounts and Audit) Rules.

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’ s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

28 April 2020
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